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1.0 INTRODUCTION

AMEC Earth & Environmental, Inc. (AMEC) prepared this Historic and Current Site Conditions
Report regarding the Former Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. (Socony-Vacuum) refinery site
(the Site) located in Olean, New York (see Figure 1-1) on behalf of ExxonMobil Refining &
Supply - Global Remediation (ExxonMobil). The Site encompasses various parcels of land

located in the northern industrial section of the city (see Figure 1-2).

The Vacuum Oil Company (Vacuum Oil) and the Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc., which
were predecessors of the Mobil Oil Corporation and Exxon Mobil Corporation, owned all or a
portion of the property in question at one point in time. As the New York State Department of
Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) has raised concerns regarding the former Socony-
Vacuum Site, an investigation into historic site conditions was initiated to develop information
that would provide ExxonMobil with a technical basis for decisions regarding the management
of the Site. The objective of this research was to develop an understanding of the physical
conditions of the property and areas associated with site processes, laboratories, storage areas,
tankage and contents, pipelines, and points and methods of shipping and distribution that were
associated with the refinery operations. This report summarizes the historic operations and
conditions at the Site from prior to the purchase of the property by Vacuum Oil to a period after
the Socony-Vacuum refinery went out of business. The information summarized in this report
describes the conditions of the property (past and present) and the operations that Vacuum Oil

and Socony-Vacuum maintained during its tenure onsite.

Two separate refineries operated at the location from approximately 1876 to 1902. At that time
the two refineries merged to become one under the direction of the Vacuum Oil Company. On
July 31, 1931, Vacuum Oil merged with the Standard Oil Company of New York and in 1934,
the company changed its name to Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc (TTH, 1986¢). At its
maximum extent, the refining operations in Olean occupied approximately 115 acres, with a

1,600-foot frontage along the east side of Buffalo Street (see Figure 1-2) (TTH, 1954). This
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plant was Socony-Vacuum’s principal manufacturing plant and distribution center for an

extensive list of specialty products (SVOC, 1950).

The refinery was divided into three sections known as the #1 Works, #2 Works, and #3 Works
(see Figure 1-3). Most of the administrative and research areas were located along Buffalo
Street, south of the Erie Railroad tracks (#1 Works). The #1 Works property along the tracks
contained the central power house as well as the central shops building. The #2 Works was
located just northeast of the #1 Works on the southern side of the Erie tracks and contained the
bulk oil loading, treating, and storage departments (ORT, 1952). The area north of the Erie
tracks and just west of the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks was the #3 Works where most of the
initial refining took place after the addition of a two-stage Crude Pipe Still. Currently, the land
once occupied by this large refinery remains almost entirely undeveloped with the exception of a
few scattered buildings remaining from the Agway-Felmont fertilizer plant operations that
utilized much of the former refinery’s property from 1964 to 1984, and the Blue Bird Industrial

Park located on a portion of the former #3 Works area (see figure 1-4).

North Olean was, and still is, considered the industrial center of the city (NOH, 2006). Research
activities also focused on the numerous other industrial companies that surrounded the refinery
property in the past and in the present. Many of these factories were unrelated to the oil business
and produced such things as acids, spring-beds, boilers, engines, glue, glassware, horseshoes,
hubs, leather, mill machinery, soap, shoe-findings, stump machines, shirts, tanners' supplies,

wagons, and many others (Mott, 1899).

Recently, the #1 and #2 Works areas were occupied by two companies called Agway and the
Felmont Oil Corporation (Felmont) (see Figure 1-4). These two worked together to produce
fertilizer. Their operations were shut down in 1984 and have been non-operational ever since.
Previous investigations into groundwater and soil contamination attributable to Agway have

been done and additional studies are currently being conducted on the former Felmont property.
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This report was developed based on research that included the evaluation of a variety of

informational sources on the area. A partial list of those sources included:

e Aecrial Photographs (historic and present-day);

e Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps (It is noted that only a limited number of Sanborn Maps
were available for the Site. Information obtained on the Sanborn Maps suggests that fire
insurance maps were not developed for the refinery through commercial means, though
the refinery may have developed them for themselves.);

e Personal Interviews;

e Olean Historic and Preservation Society information;

e (Cattaraugus County Historical Society information;

e Tax maps;

e Technical and promotional information from Socony-Vacuum Oil,

e The ExxonMobil Historical Collection at the Center for American History, the University
of Texas at Austin;

o City of Olean Public Library; and

e Regulatory/Municipal Agencies such as NYSDEC, Olean City Developer’s Office, City
of Olean Tax Assessor, etc.

A physical survey was made of a section of the perimeter of the Site on February 20, 2006.
Photographs from those site visits are included as Appendix A. In addition, Environmental Data
Resources, Inc. (EDR) was used to develop reports identifying environmental contamination in
the area (Appendix B). Reference materials gathered for this research are located in Appendices

C through L.
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2.0 SITE LOCATION AND SETTING

The following sections present an overview of the project area, including a general description of

the geographic location and ecological characteristics of the former refinery property.

2.1 SITE LOCATION

The Site is located in the City of Olean, Cattaraugus County, New York. The property in
question is north of downtown Olean and is situated between Buffalo Street to the west and the
Pennsylvania Railroad tracks to the east (see Figure 1-2). The Dresser-Rand property is located
directly to the south and east of the Site (see Figure 1-4). Homer Street was the approximate
northwestern extent of the refinery. This area of North Olean has a long history of industrial
operations, including, but not limited to, petroleum storage and refining, leather tanneries, heavy
and light manufacturing, chrome plating, fertilizer manufacturing, and railroad facilities (TVGA,
2003). The Site is currently zoned for industrial use and a mixture of municipal, commercial,
service, manufacturing, and industrial facilities characterize the land usage in the nearby vicinity

(TVGA, 2005).

The land that was once occupied by the former refinery, now partially labeled as the Agway
Industrial Park, currently remains almost entirely undeveloped. Only a few buildings and
parking areas remain that were once associated with the former Agway-Felmont fertilizer
complex. The fertilizer complex utilized much of the former refinery’s property between 1964

and 1984 (see Figure 1-4) (TVGA, 2003).

2.2 TOPOGRAPHY AND DRAINAGE

Olean sits at an elevation of 1450 feet above sea level (asl). Based on an examination of current
and historic topographic maps (see Figures 1-1, 2-1, 2-2, and 2-3), the former refinery property
sits at or just below 1430 feet asl. The property slopes gently to the south/southwest, changing

elevation eventually to 1420 feet asl off-site. Drainage of surface soil during rain events is not
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well understood at this time but a large portion of it is believed to infiltrate into the subsurface

(TVGA, 2005).

The depth to water in the area is believed to be approximately 20 feet below grade under natural
conditions. The estimated direction of groundwater flow is generally to the southwest, towards
Two Mile Creek, with a downward vertical component. The Site and surrounding residences and
businesses are all serviced by the municipal water supply system that relies on water withdrawn
from Ischua Creek, a tributary of Olean Creek located nearly six miles northeast of the Site, as
well as that produced from a network of groundwater wells that are located to the east of the

former refinery property (TVGA, 2005).

TVGA reported that they identified some catch basins and drainage conveyances on historic
facility maps of the project site, however, no such conveyances were physically verified (TVGA,

2005).

2.3 SITE GEOLOGY

Olean is located on the Allegany Plateau in the Appalachian Mountains (NYSOFT, 2004). The
refinery’s oil (Pennsylvania crude) was derived from sand’s of the Devonian Age, which ranged
from 400 to 2,200 feet below ground surface (bgs), and which varied in thickness from 10 to 70
feet. The sand’s porosity varied from 10 to 18 percent (SVOC, 1950). The Richburg oil field
(55,576 acres) in Allegany County, New York was located approximately 14 miles directly east
of Olean. The Bradford oil field (37,563) in Cattaraugus County, New York was located
approximately eight miles southwest of Olean. These two oil fields were the principal suppliers

of crude oil to the refinery (SVOC, 1950).

The Allegheny Plateau physiographic province extends from Lake Erie in the west to the Catskill
Mountains in the east and is part of the larger Appalachian Plateau areas of Ohio, New York and
Pennsylvania. The following description was taken directly from a New York State Office for

Technology report (NYSOFT, 2004):
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24

“The Allegheny Plateau was formed as a combination of uplift and erosion. The general
topographic expression of the Plateau is that of a dissected plateau with areas of high
elevation and deep valleys. Relief varies from the relatively rugged topography of the

Catskill Mountains in the east, to more moderate relief in the central and western areas.

Surficial deposits cover most of the Plateau with bedrock cropping out occasionally. The
surficial geologic deposits covering the Allegheny Plateau are primarily the result of
glacial deposition. In order of areal extent, the deposits are predominantly till, followed
by diamicton, outwash sand and gravel and kame features. Lacustrine sands, silts and

clay, as well as swamp deposits, account for a minor part of the total surficial deposits.

The thickness of the surficial deposits in the Allegheny Plateau varies between 0 and 984
feet. Exceptionally thick surficial geologic deposits are found in the valleys of
Chautauqua Lake, and the Cassadaga and Conewango Creeks in the west. Surficial
deposits there are between 591 and 984 feet in thickness. Elsewhere on the Plateau,

glacial deposits are rarely thicker than 49 feet.

The following surficial deposits make up a minority (<5%) of the total surficial deposits
on the Plateau: swamp, lacustrine delta and lacustrine sand. Swamp materials consist of
peat-muck, organic silt and sand. They are generally between 6 and 66 feet thick and
create potential land instability. Lacustrine beach deposits form a linear pattern along the
northwestern edge of the Plateau in the west. They are comprised of coarse to fine gravel
and sand, which is stratified and generally well-sorted. Their thickness ranges between 10
and 49 feet.”

ECOLOGICAL SETTING

As stated in Section 2.1, the former refinery property is mostly undeveloped land, devoid of a

large number of permanent structures. It was evident from a Site visit in February 2006 that

most of the abandoned property is covered by tall grasses, shrubs and vines, as well as some
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portions of manicured lawn. Appendix A displays photographs of the property taken during the

Site visit.

The one significant environmental feature that is associated with the former refinery property is
that the property is situated along the southern and eastern banks of Two Mile Creek (see Figure
1-2). Two Mile Creek flows in a south and southwest direction and discharges to the Allegheny
River. In the vicinity of the Site, the creek is described as a Class D stream. There are no
National Wetland Inventory (NWI) Maps available for this area, however, the Site itself is
located in the Allegheny-Ohio-Mississippi River drainage basin and parts of the property are
locally designated as within Two Mile Creek’s 100 year floodplain (see Figure 2-4) (TVGA,
2005).

Olean Creek, another tributary to the Allegheny, is located approximately 0.40 miles east of the
Site (see Figure 1-2). A detailed evaluation of the plant and wildlife species identified on the

Site was not conducted.
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3.0 HISTORY OF REFINERY SITE PRIOR TO 1902

The following sections summarize the information that was developed regarding the history of
the Olean refinery facility prior to the merger of Vacuum Oil and Acme Oil Works in 1902. This
refinery was started in 1876 when Olean found itself between two oil fields, one located near
Limestone, New York, and the other located along Brimmer Brook, 3.5 miles southwest of

Wellsville, New York (TTH, 1954). As quoted in The Times Herald (TTH, 1954):

“It was the outgrowth of a frenetic race for more and still more crude oil from the lush
and newly-discovered Pennsylvania field, found to extend into southwestern New York
State, and for refining capacity to transform the oil into kerosene, then the principal

product.”

3.1 EASTMAN REFINERY 1876-1877

William W. Eastman, originally from New Hampshire, relocated to Olean, New York in 1857.
In 1861 he erected his first still in Olean. This still was used to produce illuminating oil from
crude oil shipped to him in barrels via the railroad line from Venango County, Pennsylvania.
After two years, Eastman abandoned the still because the venture proved unsuccessful (TTH,

1954).

Eastman reentered the refining business with his son, J. Cleveland Eastman, in early 1876 by
erecting a two-still refinery on the Site, located in the corner bordered by Buffalo Street to the
west and the New York, Lake Erie & Western Railroad (later to become part of the Erie Railroad
system) tracks to the north (TTH, 1954).

The Eastman plant began producing products from the crude oil that was coming in from the
newly-discovered oil fields of Pennsylvania and New York (TTH, 1965). At this time in history,
approximately 75 to 80 percent of the crude oil produced in the United States was going into the

production of illuminates, principally kerosene. The other 20 to 25 percent of the crude yielded
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napthas, such as gasoline, and heavy paraffinic oils which were used as lubricants (SVOC,

1950).

The supply of crude oil for this refinery came from the Tuna Valley through a single pipeline
(TTH, 1954). Prior to that, crude oil was transferred from the Tuna Valley, at that time the only
oil-producing area in the state, to Olean in barrels aboard railcars on the Erie Railroad or on

horse drawn wagons (TVGA, 2003; SVOC, 1950).

Wing, Wilbur & Company purchased the Eastman refinery in the late 1870’s and changed the
name to the Eclipse Lubricating Oil Company, Ltd (SVOC, 1950).

3.2 ECLIPSE LUBRICATING OIL COMPANY, LTD. 1877-1890

Wing, Wilbur & Company was owned by Abram W. Wing, William O. Wing, and Matson O.
Wilbur. At the time of their buying the Eastman Refinery in 1877, they already had a successful
refinery operation in Franklin, Pennsylvania (TTH, 1954). After their purchase of the refinery in
Olean, they immediately enlarged the stills to a total capacity of between 500 (TTH, 1954) and
685 barrels per day (Chapin, 1889). Soon afterwards, they changed the name from the Wing,
Wilber & Company Works to the Eclipse Lubricating Oil Company, Ltd (Eclipse) (see Figure 3-
1) (SVOC, 1950). In the following year, the Eclipse refinery was expanded to the northeast
along the Erie Railroad tracks through the construction of another 200-barrel capacity still.
Dalzell R. Laughlin also added to the capabilities of the Eclipse plant by selling his adjoining
two-still operation to Eclipse sometime around 1877 or 1878 (TTH, 1954). The Acme Oil
Company bought out the northeastern portion of the refinery in 1878 and named it the Acme Oil
Works (see Figure 3-1) (Adams, 1893; TTH, 1954).

By 1882, Eclipse had six stills reported to contain 155 barrels each and 11 iron tanks (see Figure
3-2) (ONYD, 1882). The Vacuum Oil Company purchased the remaining portion of the Eclipse
refinery in 1890. At that point, Eclipse had a total of eight stills (TTH, 1954).
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3.3 ACME OIL WORKS 1878-1902

The Acme Oil Company (Acme) owned and operated the Acme Oil Works plant from 1878 until
Acme was bought out by the Standard Oil Company of New York in 1893 (TTH, 1954).

3.3.1 Acme Oil Company 1878-1893

In 1878, Acme, which was already operating a refinery in Titusville, Pennsylvania, acquired a
single still unit with an agitator and several tanks from the neighboring Eclipse plant, which at
that time was operating at about 200 barrels of throughput per day. Acme immediately built
another two stills of 500 barrel capacity each. They also constructed three 35,000 barrel tanks
for onsite crude oil storage. These were the first large oil storage tanks in the city (TTH, 1954).
A year after establishment, Acme was operating 12 more stills, new agitators, pumps,
condensers, and tanks for a total capacity of 2,300 barrels a day (see Figure 3-3) (TEH, 1900;
TTH, 1954).

In 1880 Acme constructed a barrel factory just south of the Erie Railroad tracks, near where the
Socony-Vacuum Oil plant’s central shop’s area would be constructed later (see Figures 3-1 and
3-4). This factory supplied blue and white receptacles known all over the world for the quality
of their contents (usually kerosene) and was named the Acme Barrel Works. Eventually, the
Vacuum Qil Company’s refinery in Rochester, New York and the Standard Oil Company’s
refinery in Buffalo, New York were using these barrels. It was reported that the barrel factory
was turning out as many as 3,500 oak barrels a day, utilizing nearly 70,000 oak staves and

30,000 pounds of iron hoops over a 24 hour period (TTH, 1954).

A one-story high building with a saw-tooth roof was constructed along with the barrel factory
and was referred to as the dry kiln building because it was built to kiln-dry the lumber used in the
making of staves and heading. Lumber was stacked onto wood grating which covered all of the
floors and dried until it was suitable to use in the barrel making process. The lumber was dried

by pumping hot air through trenches under the wood grating and blown up through the grating
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with a large fan (Sovac, 1951). These barrels were for storing and transporting finished products

only and approximately 2,000 barrels were shipped each day (Adams, 1893; ONYD, 1882).

Prior to 1882, a filling or shipping station was built in support of the barrel factory (see Figures
3-1 and 3-4). This station was used to prepare the barrels for receipt of the oil by spraying the
inside with glue and painting the outside and was located just east of the barrel factory (Adams,
1893). This filling station was built near the approximate location of Socony-Vacuum’s Central

Power House.

With approximately 30 acres (ONYD, 1882) of land now located on both sides of the Erie
Railroad tracks, Acme expanded again in 1882 with the erection of five more stills (see Figure 3-
5) (TTH, 1954). At this point in time, it was reported that they operated 15 crude stills (600
barrels each); seven tar stills (total capacity of 450 barrels); two steam stills (600 barrels each);
forty tanks (total holding capacity of 150,000 barrels); and ten pumps, capable of forcing 9,600
barrels of oil every hour (ONYD, 1882).

At an undetermined period in the 1880’s, Acme established an additional 84 iron tanks (capacity
of 500 to 35,000 barrels each) for storing products used and produced in the refining process. At
that point, there were thirty steam pumps being used for pumping water and product from point
to point throughout the plant (Adams, 1893). Five more stills were erected in 1885, after which,
their processing capacity increased to 4,600 barrels a day. In 1886, they purchased another
adjoining operation started by the Knights of Labor. It consisted of a single still used for refining
kerosene (TTH, 1954).

With the increase in the number of stills came an increase in the number of corresponding
apparatus such as tanks, agitators, pumps, condensers, loading racks, lines and other
miscellaneous items (Adams, 1893). Condensers were constructed of iron and were filled with
iron pipe, through which the vapors of the oil were passed during the course of refining. The
most important aspect of refining was the distillation process. In order to obtain the desired

result, perfect condensation was necessary (Adams, 1893). The condensing tanks around the
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pipes were filled with cold water and the refinery at this time was using upwards of 30,000
barrels, and by some accounts 50,000 barrels (TEH, 1900), of water per 24-hour period (Adams,
1893). Although the principal process was distillation, further manipulation was needed beyond
this for the purpose of bleaching and purifying the distillates. Caustic lyes and sulfuric acid were

utilized in this process (Adams, 1893).

It has been noted that the Acme refinery was converting the crude oil into finished products in
approximately 14 days (TTH, 1954). Gasoline, naphtha, water white oil, standard white oil,
paraffin oils and others were among these products. One of the products was coke, which was
used almost exclusively to make carbon points for electric lights (Adams, 1893). Acme was
supplying vast amounts of lubricating oil stock to the Vacuum Oil Company’s refinery in

Rochester, New York (TTH, 1954) for finishing, packaging, and shipping (Herrick, 1949).

Acme was making a total of ten different products from petroleum at this time (TTH, 1954).
These products included pure, deodorized stove gasolines, various grades of napthas for heating,
water white illuminating oils, Standard White Oil (differing grades and qualities), paraffin oil,
fuel oil and coke (Adams, 1893; TEH, 1900). Many of these products were shipped to all parts
of the world in sailing vessels after having been shipped by rail to Communipaw, New Jersey in
barrels. Sixty to 80 barrels of refined products, or in some cases crude oil, would be loaded into
each of 50 cattle or rack cars in trains that were supplied by the Erie Railroad for transport to the
eastern seaboard shipping points (TTH, 1954). As many as 75 trains were loaded and left Olean
each day. The average was 30 trains per day (TEH, 1900). The leading export at the time was
branded Royal Daylight. The higher grades of lamp oil produced were branded Pratt’s Astral,
Crown Acme (recognized as the finest quality), Headlight, and Canadian Astral. In addition, a
special grade of white-water oil was produced and called Shot Gun Oil. Crude naphtha was then
sold for heating and used in various blendings. Mineral Seal and Mineral Sperm oils were
manufactured for use in lighting trains and lighthouses. A product called Fire Still Stock
contained wax distillates and fuel oil and was re-run exactly the same as crude oil. The coke and
tar at the bottom of the stills amounted to about six percent of the amount of petroleum passing

through the stills (Herrick, 1949).
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Fires during this time period were frequent. On July 27, 1882 a tank was struck by lightning and
23,000 barrels of benzine burned (DWM, 2006). An explosion and subsequent fire occurred at
the plant on May 28, 1886 while employees were trying to fill Still #19. The still had formed a
leak and the oil caught fire on the outside. As workers pumped as much of the oil out of the still
as possible, the still filled with steam and the gas exploded and blew out the end of the still.
There was a fire that burned fast for a few minutes but was extinguished by water within

moments (TOD, 1886). Another fire occurred on June 9, 1892 (DWM, 2006).

By 1893, Acme had 32 stills and a daily throughput of nearly 5,000 barrels per day. At that
point, the Acme property consisted of 53 acres of land, (part of what would be later referred to as
the #2 and #3 Works) and was situated west along the Western New York & Pennsylvania
Railroad (later known as the Pennsylvania Railroad) tracks and extended across the New York,
Lake Erie & Western Railroad (later known as the Erie Railroad) tracks (see Figure 3-6) (TTH,
1954; Adams, 1893).

3.3.2 Standard Oil Company of New York 1893-1902

The Standard Oil Company of New York (Socony) bought the Acme Oil Company in 1893 and
operated the Acme Oil Works plant until Vacuum Oil acquired it on July 3, 1902 (TTH, 1986¢
SVOC, 1950). Based on the literature that was reviewed, it appears that Socony retained the

refinery’s Acme Oil Works name.

Only once in the history of the Acme Oil Works refinery did this plant process something other
than Pennsylvania crude oil. For a very short time in 1894, Olean received its crude supply from
the newly developed Lima oilfield in Ohio. This temporary change was due to the fact that the
Lima crude oil was plentiful and cheap (TTH, 1954). It was referred to as “skunk grease”
because it had an undesirably high levels of hydrogen sulfide which necessitated the construction
of circular stills to remove it (TTH, 1954). These stills were fired through several doors on the
circumferences and were equipped with devices that operated paddles inside the stills. With the

paddles and the heat, the deodorizing agent, oxide of lead, was mixed into the Lima crude to
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sweeten it. Afterwards, the oxide of lead was recovered and restored in the buildings that were
to become the chlorex plant and a structure near it that ultimately became known as the
compound building (SVOC, 1950). To make room for these new structures, considerable
enlargements were found to be necessary and extensive construction began on the northern side
of the Erie Railroad tracks. Many of the tanks from this area were floated to other parts of their
grounds via canals dug for this purpose (TEH, 1900).

By 1896, The Acme Oil Works plant had expanded to 49 stills, 23 steam boilers, 14 steam
engines, 68 steam pumps, 153 tanks, a boiler shop (where repairs were made to stills, boilers and
tanks), and a machine shop (TTH, 1954). An acid restoring plant was also erected that year. In
1898, eighteen new tar stills were installed along with condensing and oil tanks, piping and
buildings (TEH, 1900). However, a fire on January 22, 1899 destroyed several tanks, stills, and
15 cars (DWM, 2006).

The refining process during this time period was reported to be conducted by first transferring
the crude to stills where it was subjected to intense heat for three or four days. These stills could
hold approximately 600 barrels each. The vapors arising from the heating process were carried
through pipes submerged in cold water. The water was held in the condensing tanks. The
vapors circulating through the pipes were condensed into liquid and ran out to the tail house,
where the distillates were tested for gravity and then transferred to their final destination

(Chapin, 1889).

Depending on the quality of the crude oil that was used, 10 to 20 percent of the distillate that was
first passed off was naptha. [lluminating oil stock then followed. What was remaining in the
stills consisted of dark residuum and coke. The distillate was placed in elevated tanks called
agitators. The agitation was caused by air being forced up through the bottom of the tanks and
this process kept the liquid in a cold boil. This is where it was treated with sulfuric acid and
alkali from caustic soda which resulted in bleaching and deodorizing. To render the oil bright
and transparent, it was decanted into shallow tanks called bleachers, where it remained for a few

hours. At that point, the process was complete (Chapin, 1889).
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From the bleaching tanks, the oil was transferred to a storage tank. From there it went to a filling
rack, where a whole train of tank cars may be filled at once, or to the filling station, where a row
of automatic fillers would distribute the oil into barrels. The steam would stop when the barrel

was full (Chapin, 1889).

By 1902, Acme had expanded its operations over an area of approximately 63 acres (TEH,
1900). In that same year, the Acme Oil Works refinery and the adjacent Vacuum Oil Company

refinery merged to became one plant.

34 VAacuuM O1L COMPANY 1890-1902

The Vacuum Oil Company purchased the eight-stills, five boilers and associated tanks of the
Eclipse Lubricating Oil Works, Ltd. refinery in 1890, at which point, the majority interest of
Vacuum Oil was held by the Standard Oil Company of Ohio which acquired that status in 1879
(CAM, 2006; TEH, 1900). The most likely reason for the purchase was due to the fact that
Eclipse was already supplying the Vacuum Oil refinery in Rochester, New York with large
quantities of lubricating distillates by tank car (TTH, 1954; Herrick, 1949). Soon after Vacuum
took over the refinery in Olean, the capacity of the plant nearly doubled to 1,500 barrels a day in
throughput (TTH, 1954; TEH, 1900).

Expansions at the Vacuum refinery included two 275 barrel stills in 1891 and 1892, and the
addition of a paraffin wax plant during that same time period (TTH, 1954). The paraffin wax
plant operated by initially separating the paraffin oil from the crude, then manipulating it further
to make it precipitate the wax which it held in solution. One part of this process required the use
of an apparatus designed and built specifically for creating a low degree of refrigeration (TEH,
1900).

In 1894, a 1,400 barrel steam still was erected followed by a second in 1897 and a third in 1898
(TEH, 1900). A chlorex-treating plant was built in 1895 where oil was treated to improve its
viscosity index (SVOC, 1950). The years 1897 and 1898 saw the addition of two 400 barrel

stills each year, including the additional tanks, condensers and appliances necessary for the
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increase in production (see Figure 3-7) (TEH, 1900). A two-story brick office building was
erected along Buffalo Street in 1899 (see Figure 3-8) (SVOC, 1950). This building was used as
the refinery’s main office building until 1954 when the refinery closed down (TTH, 1954).
Additionally, large machine, boiler and blacksmith shops were erected around that time as well
as several substantial brick structures built for the purpose of enclosing a number of tanks to

keep them warm (TEH, 1900).

In 1900, four stills with 400 barrel capacities and four with 275 barrel capacities were built to
replace eight smaller stills which were inadequate for the service needed. Because the demands
for wax were so great, an additional large filter press and a duplicate refrigerating plant were

designed and constructed around the same period (TEH, 1900).

This refinery specialized in lubricating oils of several grades, fuel oil and gasoline, and paraffin
wax. The lubricating oils were shipped to the Rochester, New York Vacuum plant. The wax,
fuel oils and gasoline were shipped in barrels or tanks from the Olean plant directly to consumers
or to various distribution stations (TEH, 1900). Some of the first products that the Vacuum Oil
Company marketed were blacking (for harness, boots, shoes, etc.), cylinder oil for steam

engines, and coach oil (for lubricating axles) (Pire, UD).
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4.0  HISTORY OF THE VACUUM OIL REFINERY 1902-1931

The following sections summarize the information that was collected regarding the use of the

refinery property during the period of Vacuum Oil Company ownership (1902 until 1931).

On July 3, 1902, the Vacuum Oil Company merged with the then separately functioning Acme
Oil Works plant which was owned by Socony (TTH, 1954). After the merge, the plant was
divided by name into three sections. The section previously owned by the Acme Oil Company
became known as the #2 and #3 Works. The #2 Works was located south of the Erie tracks and
just west of the Pennsylvania tracks. The #3 Works was also located just west of the
Pennsylvania tracks but was north of the Erie tracks. The last section, known as the #1 Works

was located on the former Eclipse Lubricating Oil property, along Buffalo Street (see Figure 4-

).

From 1879 to 1911, the Vacuum Oil Company was part of the old Standard Oil Organization
(Sovac, UD). In 1911 the Standard Oil Organization was dissolved and the Vacuum Oil
Company became its own private company (UTD, 1944). The Vacuum Oil Company operated
the Olean refinery until 1931 when the Vacuum Oil Company and the Standard Oil Company of
New York merged to create the Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc (CAM, 2006; TTH, 1954).

4.1 RAW MATERIALS, TYPES OF PRODUCTS AND CAPACITY

By 1908, the refinery at Olean was reported to be running over 1.5 million barrels of crude oil
per year. At that point, in their refining process, the Vacuum Oil Company was using 64,000
tons of coal per year (TTH, 1954). With the exception of the First World War, when the price of
the Pennsylvania crude soared to a cost of $6.10 a barrel and the requirements of the refinery for
crude could not be met by the Pennsylvania crude alone, the Vacuum Oil Company used only the
crude oil from Pennsylvania, which had a paraftin base (TTH, 1954; UTD, 1944). During that
time period, Vacuum Oil shifted to mid-continent crude which had an asphalt base (TTH, 1954)
and required an acid treatment. Additionally, tar and pitch stills had to be erected to handle the



Former Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Refinery Site Page 18
Historic and Current Site Conditions Report
April 2006

base stock (UTD, 1944). After the shift back to Pennsylvania crude in 1927, the refinery shut
down the specialized mid-continent crude refining equipment and eventually dismantled it (TTH,

1954; UTD, 1944).

A large brick building with a steel roof was built in 1911 for the purpose of repairing tank cars
owned by the company (see Figure 4-2). A lean-to was also assembled in 1912 on the north side
of the building. The lean-to housed the repair shops, storehouse, tool room, and office in
connection with the car repair operation. Three railroad tracks were present that ran through the
building so that cars to be repaired could be brought in from either end and three lines of cars

could be worked on simultaneously (Sovac, 1950b).

The car repair shop, which later became the Central Shops building, was located next to the
Central Power House (see Figure 4-1). The repairing operation was taken over by the Union
Tank Car Company who used this building from about 1913 until 1921. At that time it was
decided to build another building of their own on land leased to them by the Vacuum Oil
Company and the Pennsylvania Railroad in 1916 (Sovac, 1950b).

Twenty-five shell stills at the plant were used for running crude and for rerunning many stocks
(Sovac, UD). To the immediate west of center of these 25 stills, was the location of the #2
Works Pump House. The major portion of this building was still standing when the plant closed
in 1954. When it was built, it was customary to use vertical triplex pumps for nearly all
transfers. These in turn were generally driven by a steam engine. There was a lean-to on the
north side of the pump house which was built primarily to house the gauger’s office and the

electric light plant which was installed in 1913 (Sovac, UD).

Prior to the installation of this lighting system, the few lights and motors present at the plant
were direct current and were run from a D.C. generator driven from the line shaft in the Wax
Works. It was decided to convert the refinery to alternating current for safety reasons. The
current was distributed from the #2 Works Pump House generators under ground in lead covered

cables at 2,200 volts to sub-stations around the plant where it was transformed to 220 and 110
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volts for use. The current was 25-cycle to be consistent with what the City of Olean was using at
the time. Some of the electricity used at the refinery came from City lines from Niagara Falls
and from the City’s electric light plant. The lean-to housed the turbines which were switched
from a high to a low RPM through reduction gears in the form of oil switches on a switchboard

located in the same structure (Sovac, UD).

By the early 1920’s, operations that had been handled in the Rochester Vacuum Oil refinery
were added to the Olean refinery. These operations included the Percolation Filter Plant, with
clay handling, burning, and storage facilities, and all of the transformer oil operations (SVOC,
1950; UTD, 1944). Vacuum Oil erected their first transformer oil unit in Olean in 1918 (SVOC,
1950). A group of five fireproof buildings were devoted to the manufacturing of transformer oil;
to the filtering, compounding and blending of lubricant oils; and to preparation, filling and
shipping of packages (SVOC, 1950; OEH, 1922). The transformer oil went through rigorous,
carefully-controlled tests to determine its dielectric properties to extremely close tolerances
before it was shipped out to manufacturers of electrical equipment (SVOC, 1950). Transformer
oil from the plant was shipped in tank cars, steel drums, or cans (OET, 1922). As a result, a

Compounding, Filling and Shipping Department was formed (UTD, 1944).

At this point in the refinery’s history, every section of the plant (#1, #2 and #3 Works) housed
their own separate shop buildings. For example, the #1 Works had a carpenter shop, boiler shop,
machine shop, and a pipe shop located in what was later to become the Laboratory building (see
Figure 4-3) just east of Buffalo Street (see Figure 4-1). Some equipment, such as the cold saw,
bulldozer and similar items too large to store in the lab building, were originally housed in a
garage between the main office and lab buildings. It was then decided that these shops should be
consolidated and relocated in the refinery to eliminate various separate locations throughout the

plant (Sovac, 1950b).

The boiler shops, carpenter shops, machine shops, pipe shops and one lead shop, among others,
were transferred over to the car-repair building and would then be known as the Central Shops

building (see Figure 4-2). By 1924, all of the shops had been transferred. A monorail system
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was used within the Central Shops area to serve the machine and pipe shops’ need for movement
of heavy parts between shops. It also was used to deliver pipe, pumps, and other materials out-
of-doors to trucks for loading and also served the pipe rack just south of the pipe shop’s southern
door. Jib cranes were installed for each machine in the boiler shop in order to be able to
sufficiently serve all of the various materials being handled in this area, such as I-beams, plates,
dished heads, etc. Vacuum Oil was, at this time, building practically all of its own tanks and
vessels, and all structural steel work was fabricated and erected by Vacuum employees (Sovac,

1950b).

At the west end of the boiler shop, the hydraulic press and flange fires were installed. Just out-
of-doors from this area, an erecting yard was set aside and was serviced by a Gantry crane used
to erect equipment, remove material from freight cars, or service the plate storage racks in order
to provide a safe and efficient way of plate removal from the storage yard and transfer to the

shops for fabrication (Sovac, 1950b).

The Central Shops also had a centralized foremen’s gallery. The space at the eastern end of the
tool room and repair shop, which was originally the office of the Union Tank Car Company, was
made into the electrician’s shop which housed battery chargers and the automatic telephone

switchboard (Sovac, 1950b).

The western end of the lean-to, located to the north of the Central Shops building, was arranged
to house the blacksmith shop which included three forges, a helve hammer and a steam hammer.
A jib crane was installed here to assist with handling of heavy parts. Immediately east of the
blacksmith shop was the welding shop divided into an east room, devoted almost entirely to
electric arc welding and a west room reserved primarily for acetylene welding. This shop was
also served by the monorail system for movement of parts. Between the tool room and welding
shop were three additional rooms. One of these rooms served as a tool room for the machine
shop, and the other two served as a bathroom and locker room/washroom for the shops’

employees (Sovac, 1950b).
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The refinery was headquarters for lead work required by the other Vacuum Oil plants’
operations. As such, a lead shop was built in order to meet the demands and internal
requirements (acid pan houses for concentrating acid and many lead lines around the plant)

(Sovac, 1950b).

Near the Central Shops area was a one-story high building with a saw-tooth roof, referred to as
the dry kiln building (see Figure 4-1), which used to house the barrel factory. The paint shop
was on the west end of the building and the remainder was used for storage for the various

mechanical departments (Sovac, 1951).

Prior to the construction of the central boiler house, there were a total of 22 water-tube type
steam boilers in the refinery located in three separate boiler houses (Sovac, 1950a). One of these
three early boiler houses was a large brick building named the #2 Works Boiler House and would
later be used during the war years by Hydrocarbon Research people. This #2 Works Boiler
House had a large pump house attached to the south, and an L-shaped wing (containing the #2
Works pipe shop and the #2 Works machine shop) extending to the east just south of that (Sovac,
UD).

A metal covered, wooden framed building, located just south of the #2 Works foam building,
was utilized as the second of the smaller boiler houses and included a small carpenter shop in the
southwest corner. To the west of this building was a long shed, called a still house, which

housed several shell stills and sludge stills (Sovac, UD).

A large portion of the Central Power House (or Central Boiler House) was constructed in 1922,
including space for three boilers, a portion of the coal bin, the north smoke stack, and a portion
of the coal and ash handling machinery (see Figure 4-4). The east crusher and its elevator and
the original concrete ash bin were also part of the first section of that boiler house. A large
Babcock and Wilcox steam boiler was constructed prior to the erection of the central boiler
house in anticipation of the new building. It was stored and operated in the hand-fired boiler

house and fired with hand stokers. It was then moved to the central boiler house as soon as the
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first two boilers were installed in the new facility. In 1924, the boiler house was expanded
westward to include four more boilers on the south side of the firing aisle, the south stack and
power wing (Sovac, 1950a). The final additions were made to the building in 1932. This

building provided air, steam, and electric power for the entire refinery (ORT, 1952).

The steam was distributed throughout the plant in eight-inch lines all arranged as loops. Each
high pressure steam line was equipped with sectionalizing valves for easy replacement if needed.
A coal bin was located over the top of the central boiler house, extended 100 feet in length, and
held 1,000 tons of coal. This bin was served by two crushers, two elevators and a distributing
conveyor over the coal bunker (Sovac, 1950a). The two stacks of the central boiler house were

215 feet high, 20 feet in diameter at the base, and 12 feet in diameter at the top (OEH, 1922).

By 1922, the refinery had more than 400 receiving, working, and storage tanks onsite, along with
78 crude oil storage tanks on the property, with a total estimated storage capacity of 150,000,000
gallons (TTH, 1954).

In 1924, an Ellis Cracking Still was added to the plant (see Figure 4-5) (UTD, 1944). The
“cracking” process breaks up heavier hydrocarbon molecules into lighter hydrocarbon
molecules. This was immediately followed by a second cracking still in 1925 and a third in 1926
which were called Cross Units. These three units operated continuously until the development of
the Catalytic Cracking and the Houdry Process (UTD, 1944). The Cross Cracking Plant included
a bubble tower, an evaporating tower and associated piping (SVOC, UD).

In 1927 a P-Oil reducing still was added with a capacity rated at 1,100 barrels a day and a
Solution Reducing Still was erected in 1929 with a rated capacity of 2,500 barrels per day (UTD,
1944).

The modern continuous two-stage Crude Pipe Still (see Figure 4-6) was installed in either 1927
(UTD, 1944; SVOC, 1950) or 1928 (TTH, 1986b; ORT, 1952). This still had had a maximum
daily throughput of up to 7,250 barrels per day (TTH, 1986b). In 1929, the refinery’s first
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cooling towers were erected at the crude still (SVOC, 1950). All the crude coming into the plant
would go through the crude still first which would perform the primary distillation of the crude
into some of its component parts. The still consisted of an 85 foot tower (see Figure 4-6). The
component parts would then be piped to the wax plant (see Figure 4-7), lubricating plant, or
grease plant (see Figure 4-8) for further refining (TTH, 1986b). Look boxes were used by a
stillman to observe the color and the volume of the products, with the exception of the cylinder
stocks and gases, as they were separated. This still only processed 100 percent Pennsylvania
crude oil (ORT, 1952). Located next to the still were the control and pump rooms to the north
and the asbestos cement building to the south (see Figure 4-9) (SVOC, UD).

At peak production in the 1920’s and 1930’s, 7,000 barrels of crude were refined each day and
500 tanks were scattered throughout the facility (TTH, 1965). The Olean refinery was turning
out lubricating oils of all types, in addition to producing finished gasolines, kerosenes, “white”
products and fuel oils. The “white” products were principally illuminants. One specialty product
that began distribution in 1927 was called Upperlube (SVOC, 1950). Another product, known as

Stove Distillate, was made using most of the kerosene and gasoline (Sovac, UD).

4.2 PROCESSES USED IN REFINERY OPERATIONS

There were seven steam stills, used to re-run Stove Distillate and make straight run gasoline,
located to the west of the southern end of the shell stills. Some of these stills had fractioning
towers which were used to attempt to improve the overhead product from a shell still. They were
20 to 30 feet high and packed with river gravel or small stones. Others, located on the southern
end of this line of stills, contained a heat exchange system consisting of large steel shells
supported on top of the condenser boxes, which were also made of steel, and had considerable
amounts of cast iron pipe installed inside the shells. The crude entering these stills was pumped
through the pipes into the shell stills, and the shells themselves were cut into the vapor line
before it entered the condenser box. These structures were called Vorwarmers and may have
been introduced to the plant as early as 1902. The condensers on the shell stills originally

consisted of shallow wooden boxes containing the coils and were supported on elevated
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platforms. The condensers were elevated to permit their discharge to gravitate down to the

running room (or tail house), through the look-box, and into the storage tanks (Sovac, UD).

A circular, wrought-iron, type condenser box was also used at this time but they usually rested
on the ground. Their wooden tongue and groove floors were calked to reduce leakage. The shell
of the tank was caulked to the floor as well using cotton wick and white lead. From 1913 to
around 1916, all of the old condenser boxes were replaced with more modern steel condenser

boxes erected on concrete or brick piers up to ten feet high (Sovac, UD).

The Foster-Wheeler two-stage crude pipe still unit (see Figure 4-6), erected in the late 1920’s,
had a capacity of nearly 7,000 barrels per day. In this unit, the Pennsylvania crude received its
first break-down into wax distillate, lubricating oil stock and some fuel oil, gasoline, kerosene,
and diesel fuels for further processing. The gasoline and fuel oil stock, however, were destined
for the Atlas Works’ Thermofor Catalytic Cracking unit in Buffalo. This unit replaced
approximately 56 shell, or batch, stills. The latter were reported to be 20-30 feet long, about 12
feet in diameter and have individual capacities ranging from 400-1,000 barrels each (SVOC,

1950).

Wax distillates were always re-run in an operation referred to as “cracking” the wax distillate.
This, however, was not a true cracking process so much as it was a further re-distillation to
increase the accuracy of the fractionation and improve the pressability of the wax (Sovac, UD).
Thirty-nine centrifuge units were installed in 1929 in order to remove micro-crystalline wax
from the crude oil. The wax was principally used for insulation of electric wire. Prior to this, the
wax had been removed by chilling and cold settling the crude. Crystalline wax was produced by
pressing and chilling the wax distillate, a system which was continued in the making of wax

(SVOC, 1950).
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4.3 PRODUCT SHIPMENT AND MODES OF TRANSPORTATION

After completion of the refining process, the Vacuum Oil Company in Olean would relay
lubricating oil products and base stocks by tank car to their Rochester refinery for blending
transformer oils to meet various requirements. The volume of oil handled at this time over the
Olean-to-Rochester 100 mile distance of the Pennsylvania Railroad constituted the largest
percentage of the freight carried on this branch line. With the closing of the Rochester refinery
in 1930, shipping of these products was redirected to the Atlas Works in Buffalo (SVOC, 1950).

4.4 HISTORIC INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENTS

Historic photographs depict a tank storage fire that was reported to have occurred in 1910.
However, the last tank fire in Olean was reported to have occurred in 1930 due to
implementation of a new safety system. This system included steel poles that were erected
among groups of tanks for lightning protection. When the use of a pole was impractical, the fire
hazard was reduced by making the wooden roofs vapor tight and a series of cables were
installed, similar to the spokes of a wheel, with the center or hub on the center pole of the tank.
No tanks equipped in this fashion were known to have been struck by lightning after the
protection system was installed (TTH, 1949). A firefighting chemical called foamite was also
created that was used to fight tank fires (SVOC, 1950). It was a chemical powder that was
mixed with water to form a thick film used to smother oil fires (TTH, 1930).
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5.0 HISTORY OF THE SOCONY-VACUUM OIL COMPANY REFINERY 1931-1954

The following sections summarize the information that was collected regarding the history of the
Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Olean refinery from 1931 until its closure in the fall of 1954.
The refinery was closed at that time due to substantial operating loses that occurred following the

end of World War II (Dunham, 1954).

On July 31, 1931, the Vacuum Oil Company and the Standard Oil Company of New York were
merged into the Socony-Vacuum Corporation. On May 31, 1934, the company’s name was
changed to the Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. (Socony-Vacuum) (TTH, 1986c). The
Socony-Vacuum refinery site occupied approximately 115 acres, with a 1,600-foot frontage
along the east side of Buffalo Street (see Figure 1-2) (TTH, 1954). This plant was Socony-
Vacuum’s principal manufacturing plant and distribution center for an extensive list of specialty

products (SVOC, 1950).

5.1 RAW MATERIALS, TYPES OF PRODUCTS AND CAPACITY

The Socony-Vacuum’s refinery in Olean was their only manufacturing source of tanners’ hard
greases used for preserving, softening, and otherwise treating leather for all purposes (Olean
Refinery, 1953). The production of these greases began at this plant in 1932, with the closing of
the Vacuum Oil Company refinery in Rochester, New York. These greases consisted of
approximately 60% petroleum wax and the remaining 40% made up of oil from pressed
menhaden, fats, tallow, wool grease and hydrofol glycerides, a synthetic type of wax. The grease
was shipped from the plant in 11-pound slabs at the rate of several million pounds per year. This
operation was the outgrowth of the Vacuum Oil Company’s original business involvement in
high-quality harness oils and was presumably housed in the Grease Plant (see Figure 4-8)

(SVOC, 1950).
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A Solvent Treating Plant was also part of the refinery and was established in 1934 for the
purpose of removing tar and sludge from the base stocks. Modifications to this plant were for

use of different types of solvents or the addition of updated equipment (ORT, 1952).

At one time, the Socony-Vacuum Olean refinery turned out lubricating oils and greases of
Pennsylvania-grade quality, waxes, compounded products, and a wide range of specialties (TTH,
1954; Herrick, 1949). They produced over 100 brands of industrial lubricants, including
Cylinder and Super Cylinder oils. They also manufactured nearly twenty brands of automotive
specialties (Olean Refinery, 1953). Production of specialties began to centralize in the Olean
plant around 1934. At that point, approximately 500 cases were being shipped per month.
(SVOC, 1950)

The #2 Works area consisted of the bulk oil loading, treating, and storage departments. After the
crude was filtered at the Crude Pipe Still, the distillate was treated in the continuous agitators in
this section of the plant and the finished products were known as Mobil Kerosene and Diesel
Fuels. These departments were also responsible for blending household fuel oil used to heat
homes to its proper specifications (ORT, 1952). In 1935, the steam engine for the #2 Works
Pump House was replaced by an electric motor. The need for this pump house and the number
of pumps it house decreased after the crude still was built and the shell and steam stills were

dismantled (Sovac, UD).

Transil Oil is another product that was manufactured at the Olean plant. It was used as a cooling,
lubricating, and insulating agent for electricity transformers. Most of the production of the
transformer oils was shifted from this plant to the Paulsboro, New Jersey refinery in 1935. This
was due to the need for the product to withstand temperatures as low as 40 degrees below zero.
The crude oil and synthetics used at the Paulsboro refinery were better able to create transformer
oil that met those requirements than the transformer oil made from the Pennsylvania crude at the

Olean plant (SVOC, 1950).
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The Package and Filling Department was responsible for the compounding and blending
procedures. The base stocks were mixed with chemicals according to formula and, after
examination and approval from the laboratory; the finished products were filled in either tank car
lots or in containers. These containers ranged from one quart cans to 50 gallon drums or barrels.

This is where the rail service would remove and replace the tank and box cars (ORT, 1952).

The # 1 Works Area contained the Distillation Department. This department oversaw the fires in
the furnaces that normally fractionated distillate and oil-naphtha solutions through their units.
The laboratory building housing the lab personnel that inspected samples of all products

produced at the plant was also located in the #1 Works area (ORT, 1952).

Wax became one of this refinery’s major products around the mid 1940°s (SVOC, 1950). With
the introduction of Solvent-Dewaxing, a three filter Benzol-Ketone (or by some accounts, a
Bezol-Acetone (UTD, 1944)) Dewaxing Plant was added to the plant in 1936 (ORT, 1952)
which replaced an eleven chiller and wax press installation (UTD, 1944). This is where wax and
petrolatum were removed from the base stocks and oil solutions so that they could meet cold test
specifications (ORT, 1952). The plant produced about 12,000 barrels of it in 1949. Most of it
went into producing wax emulsions for ceramics, waterproofing materials, tiles, tents, and for

general impregnating (SVOC, 1950).

The specialties building, located in the #1 Works Area, opened in June of 1947 and stored and
shipped Socony-Vacuum Oil specialty products such as Mobil All-Purpose Cleaner, Mobil
Handy Oil, Mobil Hydraulic Brake Fluid, Mobil Hydrotone, Mobilgloss, Mobiltox, Mobil
Penetrating Oils, Mobil Radiator Flush, Mobil Radiator Flush Concentrate, Mobil Rubber Parts
Lubricant, Sovasuds Cleaner, Sovasuds Car Wash, Mobil Stop Leak, Mobil Upperlube,
Mobilwax in cream and in paste form, Sanilac Heavy Duty Non-Rub Wax, Mobil Window
Spray, Bugaboo, Sanilac Insect Spray, and Gargoyle Marine Diesel Hydrotone (SVOC, 1950;
ORT, 1952; Pire, UD).
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Most of these specialty products were created using petroleum in some form, with the exception
of Mobil Hydraulic Brake Fluid, which was a synthetic and inorganic solvent. The Mobil
Radiator Flush was an acid type introduced in September of 1948. The Mobil Hydrotone was a
water solution of corrosion-inhibiting compounds. Mobiltox was an insect spray, most of which

was exported to Indonesia (SVOC, 1950).

In 1950, the specialties building installed new machines that enabled production of wooden
boxes used for export. This equipment also included a component to wrap the boxes with
protective metal bands. By 1954, the plant was shipping 500 cases each day and utilizing
1,800,000 cans of various sizes per quarter and 8,000 one-gallon jugs per month. They filled
104,000 pint bottles and 147,000 quart bottles per month primarily on five high-speed lines
which handled containers as small as four ounces in capacity up to five gallons. This operation
was entirely automatic, with the feed stock flowing from tanks on the second floor to the filling
machines on the first floor. A line for filling 50-gallon drums with specialty products was also
located within the building. The four-ounce containers for Upperlube were filled the fastest at

7,200 per hour (SVOC, 1950).

The plant consisted of 131 buildings when it closed in 1954. These buildings included a
specialty plant, the chlorex-treating plant, and the main office building on Buffalo Street (see
Figure 3-8). In addition, there were 804 tanks of various sizes. The number of tanks had been
the same since 1939. Four of those tanks were 80,000 barrels in capacity. Out of those four,
one was used to store the base materials from which aromatic oils were produced and used in the
refinery. The other three were used for crude-oil storage or to hold partially-refined crude oil to

be later relayed to the Atlas refinery in Buffalo, New York (SVOC, 1950).

Before it’s closing in 1954, the refinery was rated at a capacity of 6,500 to 7,000 barrels of crude
oil per day, operating on Pennsylvania crude oil only (TTH, 1954; Wollstadt, 1954). However,
the plant was only averaging a throughput of 4,000 barrels a day in 1947 and a mere 2,800
barrels per day in the few months prior to the refinery closing (Wollstadt, 1954).
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5.2 PROCESSES USED IN REFINERY OPERATIONS

This refinery was the scene of development of several refinery processes standard in the industry
today. These processes included tube-still distillation of crude oil, high-pressure thermal
cracking, and the Thermofor kiln process for regenerating the clay used to remove color bodies

from lubricating oil stock (SVOC, 1950).

The Olean refinery was the site of the first commercial installation of the Thermofor kiln in
February of 1939. Two more Thermofor kilns were installed in 1946 and 1947 (one of them
replacing the original unit) (SVOC, 1950). The Thermofor kiln operation was located in the
Filtering Department and was responsible for decolorizing the oil by use of a filtering process

(ORT, 1952).

Lubricating oils, along with many other oils, required filtration to improve colors and to lower
carbon residue. Pennsylvania crude was very stable, making it harder to filter the oil. The
solvent-treating process used very little color correction on lubricants made from Pennsylvania
crude when compared to similar products made from other types of crude oil (SVOC, 1950). A
filter clay that had been used was reactivated through a burning process which removed the
impurities collected during the filtering operation (ORT, 1952). The filtering was done in
vertical steel tanks which were 30 feet high and ten feet in diameter. Forty four tons of bauxite,
or granulated Fullers Earth of 30-60 mesh, was charged into the tanks in order to perform the
filtering operation (SVOC, 1950).

Bauxite is denser than clay per cubic foot. Thus it became impossible to fill the filters to the
same height as when clay was used because the lugs, beams, and other associated equipment
were unable to support the weight (SVOC, 1950). The Fullers Earth was shipped to the refinery
from either South Carolina (SVOC, 1950) or Florida (ORT, 1952). Bauxite was shipped from
Arkansas in box-cars, bagged or in bulk. They were emptied into the clay bins that were used for
the storage of clay. A large assembly of vertical concrete clay bins, for storage of the clay after

use and after recovery, was associated with the filters. In order to segregate the used clays, a
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large number of bins were necessary. This enabled the refinery to keep a record of the number
of times each batch of clay had been used. At one point, six regenerating burnings were
considered the maximum amount of burnings with the Fullers Earth. However, with new
equipment and improvements made to the technique, by 1950, it was possible to burn or
regenerate these clays as many as 50 times or more and still provide a fairly efficient filtering

material (SVOC, 1950).

The bauxite was only used for certain products such as petrolatums or lubricating oils because of
the increased stability of the oils after such filtering. When bauxite was used in the filtering of
wax, the quality of the product was improved. After the color bodies had been extracted from
the oil, the filter was washed with naptha to remove recoverable oil that remained in the clay.
The clay was then steamed to prevent it from igniting when it was charged to the heat-laden kilns
which would regenerate the clay by burning off color bodies. When steamed, the clay passed
into a heated hopper over the Thermofor kilns and was fed into the kilns in close proximity to
tubes filled with sodium and potassium nitrites in a heavy liquid form. The nitrite liquid in the
tubes was lacking in vapor pressure and had a high coefficient of heat transfer. These heat
transfer salts, as they were commonly known, were solid at temperatures below 500 degrees
Fahrenheit. They removed the heat resulting from the burning of color bodies and carbon from
the clay as air was blown into the bottom of the kiln and caused to pass up through the clay.
Introduction of the Thermofor kiln reduced the refinery’s use of clay from 300 tons per month to

less than that per year (SVOC, 1950).

The benzol-ketone process of wax removal employed at the plant consisted of chilling the wax
distillate or heavy lube oils (for micro-waxes) after the addition of benzol-ketone. The wax was
then filtered out. This system of wax removal was still in use at least until the year 1950 (SVOC,

1950).

The plant generated its own electricity (TTH, 1986b). The plant’s requirements for fresh, cold
water, which was used in wax production and for condensation in the crude still was met through

the use of five wells on the plant’s property (TTH, 1986b; SVOC, 1950). Each well pumped at a
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rate of 1,500 gallons per minute. An additional 800-900 gallons of water was obtained by nearby
surface streams. The water was treated prior to reaching the steam boilers by removing mineral

salts and reducing the hardness to zero (SVOC, 1950).

5.3 WASTE WATER TREATMENT

Waste water was directed into three sets of separators, where oil was removed by skimming.
When that process was complete, the water was discharged to the Allegheny River (SVOC,
1950).

5.4 PRODUCT SHIPMENT AND MODES OF TRANSPORTATION

The Socony-Vacuum Oil refinery in Olean was served by both the Erie and Pennsylvania
Railroad tracks. The specialties department would often use refrigerated rail cars in the summer
or heated rail cars (heated with charcoal braziers) in the wintertime for shipment of some of their
products, particularly wax emulsions, which were often affected by extreme temperature shifts
(SVOC, 1950). Tractor trailers were used as well for transportation of Socony-Vacuum Oil

products. Quantities ranged from four ounce jars to 10,000 gallon rail tank cars (TTH, 1986b).



Former Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Refinery Site Page 33
Historic and Current Site Conditions Report
April 2006

6.0 HISTORY OF THE FORMER REFINERY SITE 1954-1983

The following sections summarize the information that was collected regarding the history of the
property from the closing of the Socony-Vacuum Oil refinery in 1954 until the closure of the

Agway-Felmont Complex in 1983.

6.1 SWAN FINCH OIL COMPANY OLEAN INDUSTRIES, INC.

In 1954, the refinery was purchased from Socony-Vacuum by a Mr. C. J. Simpson (TTH, 1955).
Through a series of stock transactions, Swan Finch Oil Company Olean Industries Inc., a
subsidiary of Swan Finch, eventually became the owners (TTH, 1965) and used the refinery
tanks for the storage of grain for the Commodity Credit Corporation (TTH, 1955).
Approximately 60 tanks and other buildings on the former refinery site were used for this
purpose and were capable of holding four to five million bushels. Corn was the first to be stored
there and wheat was next. The tanks were cleaned by steam and aeration equipment installed in
the tanks. Approximately 30 to 50 carloads of grain were reportedly expected to be unloaded
every day (TTH, 1955). In 1958, Swan Finch declared bankruptcy and eventually sold the Olean
facility to the Felmont Oil Corporation in 1964. The last of the old refinery tanks were torn
down and sold for scraps in the summer and fall of 1964. The last two chimneys, along with

many other former facility buildings, were brought down in 1962 (TTH, 1965).

6.2 THE FELMONT OIL CORPORATION 1964-1983

Although the land was purchased by The Felmont Oil Corporation (Felmont) in 1964 (TTH,
1968), construction of their anhydrous ammonia operation at the fertilizer complex did not begin
until 1965 (BENB, 1965). They built their plant on a portion of a 60 acre tract that they shared
with Agway (see Figure 1-4) (BENB, 1965). Felmont purchased a total of 120 acres that were
once home to the Socony-Vacuum Oil refinery. In 1968, they cleared 60 acres of debris, unused
buildings, and foundations of unused tanks left over from the oil refinery days (TTH, 1968).

Felmont was contracted to supply Agway with anhydrous ammonia and carbon dioxide for its
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agricultural nitrogen materials (BENB, 1965). Felmont’s portion of the property (primarily the
former refinery’s #2 Works area) contained an office building and laboratories, a large furnace
complex, a compressor building, and a 7,500 ton capacity storage tank (see Figure 6-1). The
principal ingredients for the production of ammonia were heated to 1,400 degrees in the furnace
before being transported through a complex system of pipes to the compressor building. There,
the material was subjected to high pressure by two large Dresser-Clark compressors. The
ammonia then would be moved to the storage tank until it was needed by Agway, Inc. At that
point, the ammonia would be drawn from the tank and through a pipeline system to the Agway
fertilizer plant (TTH, 1967). A majority of this pipeline system and the office building are still
in place today (see Figure 1-3 and Appendix A).

An electrical substation that contained several large transformers was located to the northwest of
the ammonia plant (TVGA, 2005). Pierose, Inc., which provided general maintenance of both
the Away and Felmont plants, also occupied a building on the property to the west of the plant
(TTH, 1967). That building is also still intact (see Figure 1-3).

The Felmont ammonia plant produced approximately 240 tons of anhydrous ammonia and 100
tons of food grade carbon dioxide each day. The raw materials or feedstock consisted of natural
gas and air. However, seven or more different catalysts were used to strip carbon dioxide. These
catalysts were changed out as they became contaminated or depleted during the ammonia
manufacturing process. Nickel-based catalysts required disposal at a hazardous waste facility
but no mention of where other spent catalysts were disposed of was made. Zeolites were also
used by Felmont as a water-conditioning chemical. Used oils from the compressors were
reportedly disposed of on site by spreading the oil onto the ground in various areas of the project

site (TVGA, 2005).

On January 18, 1976, the Felmont plant experienced an explosion in the shed that housed water-
treatment chemicals (TTH, 1979¢). On October 27, 1989, another explosion occurred at the
Felmont plant. The explosion occurred due to a safety mechanism failing, resulting in a ruptured

vessel from extreme pressure. This occurred in a pressure-reducing tank (eighth feet high by five
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feet wide) at the plant during an ammonia producing procedure. The New York State
Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC), the United States Environmental
Protection Agency (USEPA), and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA)
each conducted their own investigation into this matter (TTH, 1979a). The blast was so severe,
it created extensive damage to the Felmont operation and was said to have torn through tanks and
pipes that were secured with inch-thick steel and bolts. NYSDEC’s Olean office was directed to
check the Two Mile Creek for evidence of any fish kill that would indicate the blast resulted in
an ammonia leak. They found no evidence of any fish kill in the creek and reported to Olean

citizens that there appeared to be no pending danger from the blast (TTH, 1979b).

A storage tank containing 2,700 tons of liquid ammonia was hit with a piece of flying debris
from the explosion. The tank was subsequently drained by Felmont in order to determine if the
tank sustained damage (TTH, 1979d). While draining the tank, Felmont claimed it was
necessary to release some ammonia into the air in order to maintain positive pressure in the tank
(TTH, 1979b). Apparently, this method of releasing puffs of ammonia into the air was a
common event, especially when it rained, and several surrounding residents complained that they
experienced serious eye and nasal problems in addition to ruined gardens and house paint as a
result (TTH, 1979c). Despite the residential concern, the NYDEC declared North Olean safe on
October 30, after touring the plant and examining the damaged ammonia tank that was struck.
The damage was limited to the removal of a ten square foot section of insulation and an
indentation in the tank that formed a small hairline fracture. The tank was vented to a flare for
safety. The crack in the tank was ordered to be patched with fibrous lead and epoxy (TTH,
1979d).

Felmont had a three acre landfill where foundry waste and tile manufacturing waste were
disposed of from 1970-1979. This eventually was listed as a hazardous waste site in 1984 and
was suspected to have contaminated surface soil and groundwater (TTH, 1984c). Currently, the
Felmont Site is still listed as a hazardous waste disposal site and a small quantity hazardous

waste generator in the Federal RCRIS database (EDR, 2006).
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Agway contractually purchased Felmont’s ammonia plant after Agway’s CF Industries
suspended operations at the adjacent fertilizer plant in 1983 (TTH, 1984a; TTH, 1984b).
Felmont could not continue production after Agway’s closure as they were Felmont’s sole

customer (TTH, 1983b).

6.3 AGWAY 1965-1984

Agway is owned by CF Industries (TTH, 1983b). In 1965, Agway started construction on their
portion of the urea fertilizer manufacturing complex by erecting a 160-foot high Urea Prill
Tower (see Figure 6-2) (TTH, 1984d). Ammonium nitrate and urea were synthesized to produce
urea pills, urea liquid, ammonium nitrate liquid and various nitrogen mixes (TVGA, 2003).
Agway stored carbon dioxide in large tanks at the plant and their waste urea was sent to the Putts
Farm in the nearby town of Allegany (TTH, 1984c; TTH, 1984f). There, it was spread out over
the farmland and plowed under (TTH, 1984c). The Agway and Felmont plants combined

required a total of seven million cubic feet of natural gas for daily operations (BENB, 1965).

High natural gas prices were stated as the reason that CF Industries closed the Olean Agway
plant (TTH, 1984a). The urea tower was brought down and dismantled in 1984, along with
much of the rest of the complex, and sold for scrap (TTH, 1984¢). The last two million gallon
fertilizer storage tank located northeast of the plant, on land associated with the old Socony-
Vacuum refinery, was dismantled in July of 1984 (TTH, 1984d). The Agway-Felmont complex
and the Putts Farm were on the states list of hazardous waste disposal sites (TTH, 1984c). They
were both removed from this list in 1986 (TTH, 1986a). This site has been largely vacant and
underutilized for over a decade, with environmental concerns contributing heavily to its status

(TVGA, 2003).

6.3.1 Agway-Felmont Environmental Contamination

In 1979, the United States Geological Survey (USGS) conducted a study at the fertilizer complex

and discovered total nitrogen compound levels in groundwater that ranged from 100 ppm to
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1,840 ppm (NYSDEC, 2006). From that point on, both Agway and the Felmont Oil Corporation
worked to contain the nitrate (NO;) and ammonia (NH3) contaminated groundwater (TTH,
1985b) underneath 16 acres of their land off Buffalo Street even after they closed operations in
1983 (TTH, 2005a). It was reported that the contamination stemmed from “spills and
discharges” from the former fertilizer plant that entered the aquifer (TTH, 1985¢). Agway
signed a memorandum of agreement in 1983 to continue operation and maintenance of a one
million-gallon per day purge well and three other production wells until June 30, 1987 to halt the
spread of these nitrogen-containing contaminants in groundwater towards municipal wells
located behind St. Francis Hospital. These municipal wells produced a total of 1.5 million
gallons of water per day and were approximately one mile away from the Agway-Felmont site
(TTH, 1983a). It was reported that if the purging were to stop, traces of nitrogen compounds in
the groundwater could reach the wells within a range of four (TTH, 1985¢) to twelve years
(TTH, 1985b), and in some cases, the ammonia concentrations would be higher than those set as
safe for drinking water by the state Health Department (TTH, 1985d). In addition, it was
believed that some of the contaminants would migrate off-site in a south/southwesterly direction

towards the Allegheny River if only the purge well were operated (TTH, 1983a).

Agway was pumping four million gallons of water daily from beneath the complex into a
pipeline that emptied into Two Mile Creek. Agway hired In-Situ, Inc. consultants from
Lakewood, Colorado in 1984 to verify that their upper target of 10 parts per million (ppm) of
nitrates set by the NYSDEC in the agreement had been reached (TTH, 1984a). The water quality
standards for nitrates and ammonia in groundwater and surface water have been established by
the NYSDC as 10 ppm and 2 ppm, respectively (NYSDEC, 1999). In 1985, one report claimed
that Agway indicated 2.0 ppm was the level of ammonia contamination in the groundwater at the

plant (TTH, 1985g).

Because their target for nitrate levels in the signed agreement had been met, Agway stopped
pumping operations on October 31, 1984 (TTH, 1985a). They eventually asked NYSDEC to
consider early shutdown of the pumping operations along with a monitoring program in 1985

(TTH, 1985¢). The U.S. Geological Service (USGS) had been studying the contamination for
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years and was to have begun taking measurements before, during and after the pumps were shut
off to test an aquifer model they had developed. However, they were not notified of the shut
down until two weeks after the fact. Agway was ordered to run the pumps for one month while
USGS collected their data (TTH, 1985a). USGS was reported to have suggested in 1985, that
according to their model, the nitrate contamination of the well field at St. Francis would return to
normal by the year 2009 without further pumping (TTH, 1985¢c). However, the town officials
were much more concerned about the high ammonia levels rather than the nitrate (TTH, 1985f).
The town feared that ammonia would combine with chlorine in treated potable water, to form

chloramines (TTH, 1985h). Chloramines are suspected to be carcinogenic (TTH, 1985i).

Agway was ordered by the NYSDEC to resume pumping from all four wells by June 28, 1985
(TTH, 1985h). Agway was, however, at this time concerned that it would draw chromium
contaminated water onto its property, presumably from the Van der Horst property (TTH, 1985j).
It was reported that the NYSDEC wanted to contain the chromium in the groundwater using
Agway’s pumps. As the chromium was not related to their fertilizer production, they refused to
restart their pumps (TTH, 1985k). The NYSDEC took their bid to the state Supreme Court and
in December of 1985, the court ruled in favor of Agway (TTH, 19851).

Sampling programs conducted between 1990 and 1991 documented metals in groundwater,
including chromium, barium, and lead, at levels exceeding the NYSDEC groundwater guidelines
(NYSDEC, 2006). Additional investigations at the former fertilizer complex documented the

presence of PCBs and semi-volatile organic compounds in soil as well (TVGA, 2003).
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7.0  HISTORY OF OTHER INDUSTRIES WITHIN NORTH OLEAN

The following sections discuss other industrial facilities that were historically found in the

general vicinity of the former refinery Site.

7.1 OTHER OIL REFINERIES

The New York Oil Works refinery was established in September of 1861 by Major Enos C.
Brooks, Orville E. Hill, and Levi S. Enos. This plant was located on a large lot on the North side
of West Sullivan Street. It was designed to manufacture two grades of kerosene from crude
petroleum and the throughput of the plant was about ten barrels a day. The refinery was made up
of one still with a crossbar and cap, a boiler, a safety valve and a quantity of copper and iron pipe
fittings. The refinery was in serious financial trouble by 1862 and closed soon after (Herrick,

1949).

The exact location of this refinery was not found. However, in relation to the former Socony-
Vacuum Site, West Sullivan Street is located just two blocks south of the southern most point of

the # 1 Works area.

7.2 TANNERIES

The tanning industry was one of Olean’s most significant early industries. The tanning process
involved such steps as washing the animal hides using heavy detergents, hair removal using a
caustic solution, tanning using leachates of tree bark (harvested from local forests), along with
chromium and arsenic compounds, and various other chemicals used to re-tan, color and finish
the products. There were numerous residual products of little value from the tanning process.
These included large volumes of spent tanning bark, animal flesh, fat and hair, and chemical
solutions and sludges. On-site disposal of these waste products was common to the industry
during their era of peak activity. On a national basis, there are many former tannery sites that

have or are currently undergoing environmental remediation. The typical former tannery site
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exhibits ecological concerns such as soil and groundwater contamination due to metals, semi-

violate organic compounds (SVOCs), and dioxins (TVGA, 2003).

Walter Wood was reported to have established the first tannery, which was a small, old-
fashioned tannery in North Olean along the edge of a swamp (NOH, 2006). By the 1930’s, the
tanning industry had declined and the last operating tannery closed in Olean (TVGA, 2003). The
following are just a few of the tanning companies that operated in North Olean, near the former

refinery Site.

7.2.1 Root and Keating Tannery

In 1864, Mr. Jewett and Mr. Keating were the next to establish what was to become one of the
first important industries of Olean. Their tannery was built along what is now known as North
Union Street, less than 0.5 miles to the southeast of the former #2 Works Socony-Vacuum
refinery area (see Figures 7-1 and 3-1). Mr. Jewett’s interests were purchased by a Mr. Root in
1874, thus the tannery became known as the Root and Keating Tannery (see Figure 7-2). In
1893, the tannery was purchased by the United States Leather Co. Improvements were made to
this tannery by adding a new power department, steam plant, two tank bark ovens and two 150
horse-power boilers. There was a threat of shutdown in 1895, however, the tannery continued to
operate and was booming. On July 8, 1911, an attempt was made to burn down the Root and
Keating tannery. In May 1935, the Spindler Brothers purchased the 38 acres of land occupied by
the Root and Keating Tannery and divided it into building lots and streets. The new

development was called the Spindler Brothers Brookview sub-division (NOH, 2006).
7.2.2 Claflin Manufacturing Company’s Tannery
Lee, Claflin & Company announced their plans to build a new tannery in Olean in May 1888. It

was located on ten acres of land south of Two Mile Creek, with access to switches to both the

Erie and Pennsylvania Railroads (NOH, 2006). Their tanning operations were located along the
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Erie Railroad tracks, directly north of the #1 and #2 Works areas of the former Socony-Vacuum

refinery (see Figure 7-1). It was also adjacent to the western border of the former #3 Works area.

The Claflin Manufacturing Company’s Tannery was sold to Adam Kinley in 1894. The Adam
Kinley & Sons tannery became a very prosperous leather tannery and expanded in size to 18
acres (NOH, 2006). They produced only one grade of goods known as Union Crop Sole Leather
exclusively by a process called bark tannage (TEH, 1900).

7.2.3 Buswell, Brown & Company Tannery

The Hubbard, Blake & Company tannery, later to be known as the Buswell, Brown & Company
Tannery, was built in the western part of Olean off of Fall Road in the summer of 1889. The
tanning facility was located adjacent to the former Socony-Vacuum #1 Works area, just west of
Buffalo Street (see Figure 7-1). A street was opened from Buffalo Street to the Hubbard, Blake
& Company tannery and the Erie Railroad put in a switch connecting to the tannery. In May
1891, an injunction was made against the tannery in an attempt to restrain the plant from
emptying refuse from their tannery into Two Mile Creek. Work stoppages in 1894 and 1895
resulted in the removal of the finishing department from Olean. On September 29, 1904, the

tannery was consumed by fire. The tannery was never rebuilt (NOH, 2006).

7.2.4 Cattaraugus Tanning Company

The Cattaraugus Tanning Company purchased the property located on Connell Street,
approximately 0.07 miles north of the former Socony-Vacuum #1 Works refinery area (see
Figure 7-3), around the year 1910 and operated there until 1919. It was sold that year to the
Kistler Leather Company but still operated under the name Cattaraugus Tanning Company. On
July 1, 1929, it was announced that the tannery would cease operations due to the high cost of
shipping the raw material from the east coast and the finished leather having to be shipped back
to the seaboard (NOH, 2006). The tannery property housed bark sheds, acid tanks, transformers,
engine rooms as well as settling basins and sludge beds (TVGA, 2003).
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7.3 RAILROADS

The following sections describe the two main railroad lines that intersect at a point that was
adjacent to the former refinery, one of these lines having bisected the property. A major

environmental spill is also examined.

7.3.1 Erie Railroad

Erie opened their line to Olean on May 14, 1851 (Mott, 1899). Through the early 1900’s, this
line accommodated 140 railroad trains, both passenger and freight, from six different railroads,
arriving and departing from Olean on a daily basis (TEH, 1900). The Erie line was established
to connect Chicago with New York City. The Empire Freight Line, operating on the
Pennsylvania Railroad system and the Erie Railroad, each loaded a car or two a day that was sent
directly to Olean from New York City without making a stop (TEH, 1900). The Erie track
traversed the former Socony-Vacuum refinery, in a sense splitting it into a northern (#3 Works)

and southern (#1 and #2 Works) section (see Figure 1-2).

7.3.2 Pennsylvania Railroad

The precursor to the Pennsylvania Railroad began as the Olean, Bradford & Warren Railroad.
This was a three-foot gauge line running 63 miles from Olean, New York to Warren,
Pennsylvania through Bradford, Pennsylvania. The city of Warren, however, never contributed
to the construction of the line and, as a result, the only work done between Bradford and Warren
was an initial survey. On October 8, 1877 a gang began grading the line towards Olean. In
November of the same year, 200 men began work on the northern end of the line and reached
Gilmore City in December. On February 8, 1878 the last spike was driven and the track was put

into operation (WNYRA, 2005).

The Olean-Bradford section ran through two states and was incorporated as two separate

companies with two separate charters. The 12.5 mile section in New York was called the Olean,
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Bradford & Warren (OB&W) Railroad while the 10.5 mile section in Pennsylvania was
incorporated as the OB&W Railway (WNYRA, 2005).

The OB&W connected to many other narrow and standard gauge railroads. Most notably was
the Kendall & Eldred Railroad which connected to the OB&W at Tarport, Pennsylvania (East
Bradford). These two companies shared the same management and were operated by the same

personnel (WNYRA, 2005).

During that era, as today, the larger railroad systems were always looking to lease or purchase
smaller systems to add to their operations. The OB&W was no exception and on June 11, 1878
the Pennsylvania section of the line was sold to the Buffalo, New York & Philadelphia Railway
(BNY&P). The BNY&P purchased the New York section of the OB&W line on December 8§,
1881(WNYRA, 2005).

During its explosive growth by acquisition phase, the BNY&P purchased the McKean & Buffalo
Railroad, 16,000 acres of land, and the 121 mile main line of the Western New York &
Pennsylvania Railway in Pennsylvania. In 1883 the BNY&P purchased the Kendall & Eldred
Railroad, the Buffalo, Pittsburgh and Western Railroad Company, the Olean and Salamanca
Railroad Company, the Bradford Railroad, the Kinzua Railroad, the Genesee Valley Canal
Railroad, the Oil City and Chicago Railroad Company, and the Rochester, New York &
Pennsylvania Railroad. After this rash of purchases the company was reorganized on
February 14, 1883 as the Buffalo, New York & Philadelphia Railroad Company. The BNY&P
was purchased in the winter of 1887/88 by the Western New York & Pennsylvania Railroad
Company which was, in turn, leased to the Pennsylvania Railroad in 1900 (WNYRA, 2005).

The Western New York and Pennsylvania Railroad ran from Buffalo, New York to Emporium,
Pennsylvania and was absorbed by the Pennsylvania Railroad in 1905 (WNYRA, 2005). The
main Pennsylvania Railroad tracks ran along the eastern boundary of the former Socony-Vacuum

refinery property (see Figure 1-2).
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7.3.3 Historic Environmental Accidents

A very significant environmental accident began about 8:30 on the evening of March 9, 1903 on
the Erie line. The accident occurred beyond the Erie Bridge which was located over Olean
Creek, approximately 0.60 miles east of the former refinery Site (see Figure 1-2), and occurred
when a westbound freight train broke in two between Hinsdale and Olean. The crew was
unaware of this fact, which was first discovered by the operator at the tower just east of Olean.
He sent word to the operator at the Erie station, who had the engineer keep on down the main
track, counter to the standing orders of stopping at the bridge to take the switch. Before the
engineer could get the twenty-six cars attached to his engine in motion again, the fourteen cars
that were following with the caboose, crashed into those ahead of it just east of the Erie Bridge
across the Olean Creek. Of the fourteen cars involved, eight were loaded with refined oil or

naphtha and the other six with sugar (NOH, 2006).

The collision caused an explosion of some of the oil cars; three of which were thrown down the
north side of the embankment. Another toppled part way down the south bank and others were
piled sidewise across the tracks (NOH, 2006).

7.4 OLEAN CHEMICAL WORKS

One of the earliest industries in North Olean was the Olean Chemical Works which was
organized in 1881 (Adams, 1893) on the site of the current Henkel Corporation factory between
Washington (now Connell) and Franklin Streets (see Figures 7-1 and 3-1) (NOH, 2006). The
chemical manufacturing operations were located along the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks,
adjacent to the eastern border of the former Socony-Vacuum #3 Works refinery area (see Figure
7-4). The Olean Chemical Works was a branch of the Graselli Company of Cleveland, Ohio
(NOH, 2006).

The Olean Chemical Works plant manufactured sulphuric, nitric, mixed and muriatic acids, aqua

ammonia, extra distilled glycerine, etc. Their methods and processes remained a secret and
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many of the appliances used by the chemical company were of their own invention and were
used exclusively for them (Chapin, 1889). On November 5, 1884, the Chemical Works was the
scene of a destructive fire. The fire originated in the boiler works. In total, the fire destroyed
approximately one-third of the plant including 64 glass stills with their contents (TOD, 1884a).
This fire was reported to have created some damage to the Acme refinery as well, specifically to
the east end of the barrel factory, and to tankage and piping at the pump station just north of
town. Before a new building was erected to replace the one that caught fire, the Chemical Works
plant had to create large stores of sulphur and other minerals by baking and melting them into a

solid concrete rock (TOD, 1884b).

After the fire, George Lurther purchased the Chemical Works property in November of 1904.
He built a factory 80 feet by 30 feet on that site in July of 1905 and was going to name it the
Sanitary Dinner Pail Company. On July 25, 1905, the Dinner Pail Company was gutted by a fire
of unknown origin (NOH, 2006).

Following the Pail Company fire, the executive committee of the Board of Trade secured an
option on a portion of the old Chemical land owned by George Luther. They built a large glass
bottle and demijohn manufacturing plant and named it the Boley Manufacturing Company. A
demijohn is a large, narrow-necked bottle made of glass or earthenware, and is usually encased
in wickerwork. After the factory was in operation, a fire occurred on January 1, 1907 (NOH,

2006).

7.5 THE OLEAN GLASS WORKS

The Olean Glass Works was located south/southwest of the Eclipse and Acme refineries on
Buffalo Street near Thirteenth Street and begun operations in 1883 (see Figure 7-1) (NOH,
2006). In relation to the former Socony-Vacuum refinery, it was located just west of Buffalo

Street, adjacent to the southern end of the former #1 Works area.
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The glass works was the site of many serious fires. The first, in September 1894, badly scorched
the factory. The second one occurred in January 1896 and destroyed the main building. Fire
struck the glass works in 1905 in which two large buildings were destroyed. Presumably the last
fire to hit the plant occurred in 1913. In that same year, the factory was sold to the Acme Glass
Works (NOH, 2006).

7.6 UNITED LUMBER COMPANY

The United Lumber Company made plans to locate on 40 acres purchased from S.R. Homer, a
tract of land opposite the Erie Railroad tracks from the Acme Barrel Works. It was expected that
this plant would be the main storage plant for the product of various mills owned by United
Lumber companies. Mr. S.S. Bullis, owner of the company, was given much credit for locating
his company to Olean in February of 1888. A huge fire destroyed about 4,000 to 5,000 feet of
lumber as well as the building in which they were stored in September of 1889 (NOH, 2006).

7.7 WILSON ROLLER BLIND MANUFACTORY

On October 14, 1891 the Wilson Roller Blind Manufactory (also referred to as the Wilson Sash
and Blind Company) had started operations in an area just north of the Acme and Eclipse
refineries on Johnson Street (see figure 7-1) (NOH, 2006). Johnson Street is located within 0.14
miles north of the former #1 and #2 Works areas of the Socony-Vacuum refinery Site and

approximately 0.10 miles west of the former #3 Works.

The Wilson plant manufactured rolling blinds, partitions, rolling steel shutters, wood block
flooring, window frames, and hygienic school wardrobes. The products of this factory also
included Mr. Wilson’s patented inside and outside blinds and shutters (the first Venetian blinds).
It was in March 1902 that a fire destroyed the Wilson factory along with a saw mill located along
Two Mile Creek. After the fire, the Wilson Roller Blind Manufactory left Olean (NOH, 2006).
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7.8 UNION PLANNING MILLS

The Union Planning Mills was established in an area north of the Eclipse and Acme refineries
that were operating at the time. Although its exact location was not discovered, it appears to
have been situated just north of the Wilson Roller Blind Manufactory (see Figure 7-1). In April
of 1895, it was announced that the mill had put through about one million feet of hemlock to be
dressed for the eastern market. In that same year, Thomas Whitton, owner of the Union Planning
Mills, had purchased the entire stock of Pennsylvania Storage Company’s Storage Yard just
north of his mill (see Figure 7-1) (NOH, 2006).

7.9 ACME GLASS WORKS

The Acme Glass Works came to Olean in 1895 and was located near the intersection of Franklin
and Johnson Streets in North Olean, within 0.14 miles north of the former #1 and #2 Works areas
of the Socony-Vacuum refinery Site and approximately 0.10 miles west of the former #3 Works
(see Figure 7-3). The Acme Glass Works purchased the Olean Glass Company business in 1913
and would operate the factory on the corner of Buffalo Street and Thirteenth Street in connection
with their more northern facility. The glass works was running to full capacity in 1916 and in
March of 1926, the Acme Glass Works was sold. In 1932, fire destroyed the old Acme Glass
plant on Franklin Street which had been closed since April 1929 (NOH, 2006).

7.10 UNITED WOOD ALCOHOL COMPANY

A site for an alcohol refinery was selected north of Franklin Street and east of the Pennsylvania
Railroad in February of 1907 (see Figure 7-3). This facility was also situated adjacent to the
eastern border of the former Socony-Vacuum #3 Works refinery area. Crude alcohol would be
brought to this location from factories in metal drums and shipped out in barrels after being

refined. The plant was never operated (NOH, 2006).
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The Seaman Organization, one of the largest industries to come into North Olean, announced in
October 1924 that they would take over the idle United Wood Alcohol Company plant (see
Figure 7-2). The company had been noted for their manufacture of fiber containers and while
the new plant was being made ready, the temporary plant turned out buckets that were used for

shipping candy, paints, lards, greases and similar products (NOH, 2006).

In the spring of 1927 the Arvey Manufacturing Company was organized and took over the
Seaman Organization. The Arveyware Corporation purchased the building in 1934 and renamed
it the Fibre Forming Corporation. It has been estimated that he plant closed sometime during the
1960’s. The building was dismantled and the land is now part of a parking lot for the Henkel
Corporation (see Figure 1-4) (NOH, 2006).

7.11 DRESSER-RAND COMPANY

The Dresser-Rand Company (Dresser) began in the 1880’s in nearby Belmont, New York when
the two Clark brothers decided to begin manufacturing farm implements and sawmill equipment.
The brothers eventually decided to shift their focus from agriculture to oilfield equipment
(TVGA, 2003). In 1912, a fire destroyed the Clark Brothers plant in Belmont and the firm
decided to move to northwestern Olean and began manufacturing engines for the oil industry
(NOH, 2006; Dresser-Rand, 2006). They started their Olean plant in the southeast corner of their
current property, along Lincoln Street and the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks (see Figures 7-3 and
7-5). Their current property is situated adjacent to both the southern #1 Works and eastern #2
Works borders of the former refinery Site (see Figure 1-4). Large, slow-speed reciprocating
engines and compressors were the primary product manufactured in the Olean plant at that time

(TVGA, 2003).

In 1938, Clark Brothers merged with another oil industry manufacturer, the Dresser
Manufacturing Company from Bradford, Pennsylvania, to form the Dresser-Clark Company. In

1956, Dresser Industries was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware as a successor
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to the Dresser-Clark Company. On January 1, 1987, Dresser Industries merged their interests

with the Ingersoll-Rand Company to form the Dresser-Rand Company (Dresser-Rand, 2006).

During World War II, Dresser expanded their line of oil industry products in addition to
designing and building marine diesel engines for use on tankers. Around this time, Dresser
acquired their first portion of the former Pennsylvania Railroad maintenance facility (TVGA,
2003). Eventually, Dresser acquired all of the land adjacent to the former Socony-Vacuum Oil
Site previously owned by the Pennsylvania Railroad for repairing steam locomotives for the

Union Tank Line Company (see Figure 7-5).

The company steadily grew, and in 1956 a new plant was constructed in northwestern Olean to
manufacture gas turbines and centrifugal compressors. By 1975, the company had designed and

built one of the largest natural gas compressors in the world (TVGA, 2003).

Throughout most its history, Dresser-Rand has had a foundry at the Olean facility. This foundry
was capable of producing very large castings. Although many processes have been used at the
facility, the bulk of the casting process involved the sand cast method. This common casting
method involved the construction of a mold and pattern in which foundry sand and its
amendments are packed tightly. Molten metal was then poured into the mold after the pattern
was withdrawn and the mold was closed. The casting was allowed to cool and was withdrawn
from the mold. The casting was then chipped clean of slag and sand and machined into its
intended form. The spent foundry sand was used for on-site fill and at other nearby locations,

including an area to the south of Buffalo Street (TVGA, 2003).

Of the many manufacturing facilities that occupy northwestern Olean, Dresser-Rand is one of the
largest and is still active today. Although the Dresser-Rand facility is still an active operation,
TVGA consultants stated in their Bond Act Application — Project Description report (2003) that
the company indicated portions of the plant are no longer utilized and may be available for

redevelopment.
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7.12 VANDER HORST

The Van Atta Plant had been established at the corner of Penn Avenue and N. Fourth Street in
North Olean in 1916. This location was slightly southeast of the former #2 Works area of the
refinery Site, just across the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks. They produced hydraulic presses that
were used in the Seaman Organization’s manufacturing process of fibre containers (NOH, 2006).
It appears as though this was the precursor to the Vander Horst plant, or at least was very near

the former Van der Horst factory property.

Van der Horst was a chromium plating facility that operated at 315 Penn Avenue location from
the early 1950’s until June of 1987 (see Figure 1-4) (TVGA, 2003). In their operations, they
produced chromic acid wastes that were allegedly disposed of on the property, resulting in
groundwater contamination. The resulting chromium contamination in groundwater was largely
contained by the Agway-Felmont purge pumping operation (see Section 7.3.1) (TTH, 1984c).
However, groundwater was also contaminated with lead and tetrachloroethene. Previous
investigations at the former chrome plant indicated that contamination from the plant was also in
the on-site soil, in City storm sewers around the property, and in the sediments of Olean Creek.
Surface soil samples taken from adjacent residential properties indicated elevated levels of
arsenic, lead and chromium, confirming the airborne transport of site-related contaminants as
well. To date, a total of 31,539 tons of contaminated soil and building have been removed from
the property, as well as from neighboring properties, and quarterly groundwater monitoring is in
progress. This site is still listed as a class 4 hazardous waste site, meaning that it is one that

requires management, on Olean’s list of four such sites (Cmap, 2002).

Van der Horst also owned and operated an iron/chrome plating facility on Johnson Road (Van
der Horst Plant #2), near Two-Mile Creek, within 0.14 miles north of the former #1 and #2
Works areas of the Socony-Vacuum refinery Site and approximately 0.10 miles west of the
former #3 Works (see Figure 1-4). Approximately three acres of waste material was identified
on site during a Preliminary Investigation conducted by NYSDEC in 1988. The soil was

contaminated with both chromium and barium. Hazardous waste was improperly stored within
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the plant building, including both corrosive and ignitable material. Demolition of all the on-site
structures was completed in 1995. Consolidation of on-site soil and sediment at one location and
subsequent encapsulation work was completed in 1996. This property is also listed as a class 4
hazardous waste site in Olean and long term monitoring of the property is ongoing. Chromium
contamination in the groundwater at the site has been reduced since the completion of the

remedial work. The property is currently fenced and gated to restrict access (Cmap, 2002).

7.13 PENNSYLVANIA RAILROAD SHOPS AND YARDS

The Pennsylvania Railroad had established two separate maintenance shops and train yards. One
yard was located directly adjacent to the former Socony-Vacuum Site, currently the Dresser-
Rand property (see Figures 1-4, 7-3 and 7-5), and the other was located just south of Wayne
Street between Third and Seventh Streets, approximately 0.5 miles southeast of the former
refinery property (see Figures 7-1, 7-3 and 7-5). Presumably they were established after the
Union Tank Car Company left the former refinery Site around 1921.

Machine shops and lifting equipment used for the maintenance and repair of locomotives and rail
cars were housed on these properties. The use of cutting oils, lubricating oils, solvents,
degreasers, and paints were commonplace at train yards during this time in history (TVGA,
2003). The tank car repairing effort on the property abutting the former refinery Site was
discontinued in 1950 due to changes in requirements for tank cars throughout the country and as
a result, the Union Tank Car Company buildings were dismantled and the tank car storage tracks
removed (Sovac, 1950b).

In March of 1927 an announcement was made that a modern glass factory was to be erected on
the ten acre property on Wayne Street and construction began in April of that year. Around
1935, the glass factory was bought out by the Thatcher Company who continued in Olean until
they finally closed and moved all their operations to Elmira, New York. The Olean Board of
Education bought the property in 1978 and built the Olean Junior High School on its site (NOH,
2006).
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7.14 HENKEL CORPORATION

Located on the land that once housed the Olean Chemical Works facility, the precursors to the
Henkel Corporation began in April 1930 with a new plant, the Olean Metal Cabinet Works,
erected on Franklin Street for the purpose of manufacturing metal products. Eventually, Lloyd
D. Dahmen bought the plant and in the year 1935, the Daystrom Corporation became a
manufacturer of metal ashtrays. In 1938, Daystrom began manufacturing chromium kitchen
furniture and upholstered stools and chairs. The Daystrom plant in Olean was shut down in
February 1962, at which time the operation was relocated to South Boston, Virginia. The Henkel
Corporation took over the former Daystrom factory some time later and has been operating there
ever since (see Figure 1-4) (NOH, 2006).

7.15 ALCAS CUTLERY

Although it is located approximately 2.5 miles southeast of the former refinery property, the
Alcas Cutlery property is listed as one of Olean’s four known hazardous waste sites. They are
listed as a class 2 hazardous waste site in the City of Olean, indicating that it is a “significant
threat” (Cmap, 2002). Their plant is located at 1116 West State Street in the southeastern section
of town, just north of the Allegheny River. It is near the former Quirin’s Tannery depicted in

Figure 8-1.

Alcas Cutlery produces household cutlery in a process that does not involve plating. Prior to
1979, this company was responsible for applying four to five drums of 1,1,1-trichlorethane
(TCE), used as a weed Kkiller, to their property every year (Cmap, 2002). Grinding wastes were
also disposed of in an abandoned canal bed behind the property (TTH, 1984c). Previous
investigations indicated both groundwater and soil contamination at the location (Cmap, 2002).
The Olean Well Field, near the Alcas Cutlery plant, has also been listed as a class 2 hazardous
waste site because of TCE contamination. A portion of the contamination has been attributed to
Alcas (Cmap, 2002).
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8.0 CURRENT SITE CONDITIONS

The site visit to the property, on which the former Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. refinery
was once located, focused on the relatively undeveloped portions of the Site that were accessible
from Buffalo Street. This primarily included the former #1 Works area. Appendix A presents
the photographs that were taken during the site visit and this section describes the existing
structures depicted in the photos. An attempt was also made to relate current Site conditions for
the former #2 Works and #3 Works areas primarily through the use of current aerial photographs
(see Figure 1-3). Summaries of the ongoing environmental investigation being conducted on a
portion of the Site and of the environmental database search that was completed are also

presented in this section.

8.1 FORMER #1 WORKS AREA

The portion of the site that once was referred to as the #1 Works (parcels 94.047.28.1, 94.047.29,
94.047.28.2, and 94.047.30) (see Figure 8-1) is bound to the west by Buffalo Street (Photos 1
and 2), to the north by the Erie Railroad tracks (Photo 1), to the east by the Dresser-Rand
Company property (Photo 3) and the former #2 Works property, and to the south by the Dresser-
Rand Company property as well (see figure 1-4). The majority of the area previously covered by
the former #1 Works is relatively flat with no distinct gradation in any direction. It is primarily
undeveloped and contains mostly short manicured or high unkempt grass habitat as depicted in
Photos 4 through 9. However, there are some existing features of note within this section of the
former refinery Site. These features include the two-story Harris Supply Company, Inc. building
and parking lot situated at the intersection of Buffalo Street and the Erie Railroad tracks (Photos
10 and 11), and two former Agway plant buildings (see Figure 1-4). Both of these buildings are
two-stories high and are located just east of Buffalo Street. The more northern building is
depicted in Photos 12 and 13. The building located further south is depicted in Photos 14 and 15.
A former Agway guard shack also remains on their property just east of Buffalo Street, situated

in between the other two former Agway buildings described above (Photo 16).
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In addition to buildings, the former #1 Works site contains various signs and the remnants of the
former pipeline used by the Agway-Felmont fertilizer complex. One of these signs, located at
what once was the main entrance into the Agway plant from Buffalo Street, bares the complex’s
name; the “Agway Industrial Park” (Photo 17). Photos 18 and 19 depict two additional signs in
separate parcels of the former #1 Works facility that list that parcel as available. The former
Agway-Felmont complex utilized a large pipeline system (see Figure 6-1) (Photo 20) that runs
primarily parallel to the Erie Railroad tracks, for the transport of ammonia (Photo 21). The
remainder of this pipeline stretches along the boundary of parcels 94.047.28.1 and 94.047.29
(Photo 22). Near the northeastern end of the pipeline system, an arch was created over an access
road that connects the two parcels mentioned above (Photo 23). A gas line structure is located

just a little further northeast of the pipeline arch (Photo 24).

8.2 FORMER #2 WORKS AREA

The portion of the site that once was referred to as the #2 Works (parcels 94.048.1.1 and
94.048.1.2) (see Figure 8-1) is bound to the west by the former #1 Works property, to the North
by the Erie Railroad tracks, to the east by the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks, and to the south by
the Dresser-Rand Company property (see Figure 1-2). Parcel 94.048.1.1 appears completely
undeveloped with the exception of one small structure located on the border between the two
parcels. It appears as if it is primarily made up of non-manicured grassy habitat with some brush
and small trees (TVGA, 2005). TVGA indicated that there are several former building
foundations, fencing, monitoring well casings, and power poles located in this area (TVGA,
2003; TVGA, 2005). The NYSDEC documented the presence of small spheres and pellets in
soil piles on this parcel that were likely linked to the Agway-Felmont fertilizer complex
operations (NYSDEC, 2005).

Parcel 94.048.1.2 still contains three large buildings and a parking lot. Two of these buildings
served as an office building and a maintenance building when the Agway-Felmont fertilizer
complex was operational (see Figure 1-4). There are some various other small structures visible

on the aerial photo that are more than likely related to the former Agway-Felmont fertilizer
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operations as well. This property appears to contain a mix of tall grassy areas mixed in with

some scrub/shrub habitat.

8.3 FORMER #3 WORKS AREA

The majority of the Site that once was referred to as the #3 Works includes many different tax
parcels (94.040.29, 94.040.2.1, 94.040.2.2, and 94.032.2.1) (see Figure 8-1) including a portion
of the New York State Route 17 that runs directly through the center of the former #3 Works
area from east to west. What constituted the #3 Works property boundaries are not entirely clear,
however, it is believed to have been bounded generally to the north and west by Homer Street, to
the east by the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks, and to the south by the Erie Railroad tracks (see
Figure 1-2). All of the parcels believed to be a part of the #3 Works portion of the former
refinery are currently vacant with the exception of 94.040.29. This property houses two large
buildings and associated parking areas for the Blue Bird Industrial Park (see Figure 1-4). The
rest of the land once associated with the primary distillation and crude storage for the former

refinery appears to be covered with tall or short grassy habitat.

8.4 UNDERSTANDING OF CURRENT ENVIRONMENTAL INVESTIGATIONS IN NORTH OLEAN

The City of Olean wanted to acquire the former Felmont Oil Company parcels via tax
foreclosure to further investigate known and suspected contamination at the former ammonia
production site in North Olean. The actions of the City of Olean and Cattaraugus County, with
respect to the acquisition of these parcels, were coordinated with the intent of consolidating the
subject site under the control of the Urban Renewal Agency (URA). In December of 2003, a
Bond Act Application — Project Description Report was submitted by TVGA Consultants on
behalf of the City of Olean stating the reasons for the city’s interest in the former Felmont Oil

property (TVGA, 2003).

In June of 2004, the city of Olean won an $180,000 grant from the New York State Department

of Environmental Conservation, which was funded under the 1996 federal Clean Water/Clean
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Air Bond Act (TTH, 2004). The Felmont subject area currently being investigated consists of
three parcels of land, including 94.048.1.1, 94.047.28.1, and 94.047.30 (see Figure 8-1) (TVGA,
2003), covering a total of approximately 24 acres. Through various interviews, it was revealed
that environmental consultants are, however, concentrating more of their efforts on parcel

94.048.1.1, believed to be the site of the major explosion that occurred on October 27, 1979.

The site along New York State Route 17 in North Olean is considered a prime area for
restoration and commercial redevelopment (TVGA, 2003), but investors and builders have
avoided the Buffalo Street location for fear of possible contamination (TTH, 2004). Although
the entire Felmont property being investigated is only 24 acres in size, the city has identified
nearly 500 abandoned acres in the North Olean industrial district that would be ideal for
redevelopment (TVGA, 2003). In April of 2005, the city won another $72,500 grant to help hire
consultants to survey the entire 500 acres. This survey will be necessary in helping with future

applications for federal and state aid required for property rehabilitation (TTH, 2005a).

The primary Felmont parcel being investigated has been vacant since approximately 1994 (TTH,
2004) and has, to the city’s knowledge, never been subjected to any previous environmental
assessments and/or investigations (TVGA, 2003). However, several adjacent properties were
investigated regarding environmental contamination including the former Agway Nitrogen
Complex and the Van der Horst Plants | and 2. Investigations of these two properties confirmed
the presence of surface and subsurface soil contamination, groundwater contamination, and
sediment contamination within Two-Mile Creek located 0.25 miles west of the subject property’s

western boundary (TVGA, 2003).

Based on the results of those investigations and the historical use of the site, the primary
concerns regarding environmental contamination at the Felmont subject property were identified

by TVGA (2003) consultants as:

» “The potential for surface and subsurface contamination in connection with the former

use of the site for industrial use for over 85 years, including, but not limited to, spills
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and/or leaks from extensive petrochemical storage and processing facilities formerly
located on the subject site;

= The potential presence of potential underground storage tanks (USTs) and/or process
piping;

= The potential for contamination associated with the former rail facilities that serviced the
subject site;

= The potential for contaminant migration from the Van Der Horst sites onto the subject
site via groundwater;

» The documented occurrence of PCBs and semi-volatile organic compounds (SVOCs) in
the soil on the adjacent Agway site, which was originally part of the larger refinery
complex that formerly contained the subject site;

* The documented occurrence of groundwater contamination by ammonia and nitrate on
the adjacent Agway site; and

= Potential presence of contaminated sediments sludges and/or wastewater within the

remaining components of the on-site drainage system.”

TVGA indicated in their 2003 Bond Act Application that the Felmont Oil facility operated a
machine shop and compressor facility and utilized multiple electrical transformers, as well as
numerous petroleum containing above ground storage tanks (ASTs). This suggests the potential
for the onsite storage and use of solvents, the presence of PCB-containing electrical equipment,

and the use of petroleum products by the Socony-Vacuum refinery’s successor (TVGA, 2003).

The primary goals of this Brownfield restoration project are to identify and remediate any
contamination that could pose a threat to the public’s health and safety or to the environment
(TVGA, 2003). The City of Olean would like to take advantage of the State’s federal
Brownfield program policy in which they grant up to $200,000 for cleanup costs and an
additional $200,000 if the site is contaminated with petroleum products (TTH, 2002). According
to The Times Herald in June of 2005, TVGA engineers had found “...some pockets of oil

contamination, but not enough to preclude development (TTH, 2005b).”
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The cleanup strategy was reported to be bulldozing contaminated soil into a containment area
and then capping. Because the property is intended for retail development, the level of cleanup
will be lower than if it were to be used for residential development due to New York’s newer,

more relaxed, state regulations for cleanup of former industrial sites (TTH, 2005b).

The Agway-Felmont site is within the Empire Zone, meaning any new business locating there
would receive breaks on taxes and utility costs (TTH, 2004). The mayor of Olean has made it a
priority to redevelop the site and suggested that the location would be ideal for an outlet mall or

similar development (TVGA, 2003).

8.5 ENVIRONMENTAL DATABASE SEARCH RESULTS

An environmental database service company, Environmental Data Resources, Inc., was
contracted to provide a Site-specific environmental database search report for the property in
question and the surrounding vicinity. This report is provided as Appendix B of this report. All
of the information contained below summarizes their findings and came directly from their

report (EDR, 2006).

8.5.1 Federal Records

A search of several federal databases, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Information System (CERCLIS), The CERCLIS “No Further
Remedial Action Planned” (CERCLIS-NFRAP) database, the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act (RCRA) Information (RCRAInfo) system, and the RCRA corrective Action
Activity (CORRACTS) database, produced the information detailed below.

CERCLIS contains data on potentially hazardous waste sites that have been reported to the
United States Department of Environmental Protection (USEPA) by states, municipalities,
private companies and private persons, pursuant to Section 103 of the Comprehensive

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA). CERCLIS contains sites
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which are either on the National Priorities List (NPL), or are proposed to be on the list and sites
which are in the screening and assessment phase for possible inclusion on the NPL. The

following company is reported as being on the CERCLIS list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction

* Van Der Horst Corp of America 314 Penn Ave. Y4 to 2 mile east

CERCLIS-NFRAP sites have been removed from the CERCLIS database as of February of
1995. These sites are properties where, following an initial investigation, no contamination was
found, contamination was quickly removed without the need for the site to be placed on the NPL,
or the contamination was not serious enough to require Federal Superfund Action or NPL

consideration. The following two companies are reported as being on the CERCLIS-NFRAP

list:
Lower Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Felmont 1439 Buffalo St. Y4 to Y2 mile southwest
= CF Industries Inc Olean Nitrog 1446 Buffalo St. Y4 to %2 mile southwest

RCRAInfo is the USEPA’s comprehensive information system, providing access to data
supporting the RCRA of 1976 and the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of
1984. This database includes selective information on companies which generate, transport,
store, treat, and/or dispose of hazardous waste as defined by the RCRA. Small quantity
generators (SQGs) generate between 100 kg and 1,000 kg of hazardous waste per month while
large quantity generators (LQGs) generate over 1,000 kg of hazardous waste or over 1 kg of
acutely hazardous waste per month. The following 12 companies are reported as being on the

RCRAInfo SQG list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= RUPP Rental & Sales Corp 355 Franklin St. Y4 to 2 mile north
* R G Scott 900 W. Connell St. % to %2 mile north/northeast
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= Advanced Monolithic Ceramics 1010 Wayne St. Y4 to > mile south/southeast
=  NYS Police Western Regional CR 722 Homer St. Y4 to 2 mile northwest

= NYS Police Western Crime Labor 722 Homer St. Y4 to 2 mile northwest

= R G Scott 314 Penn Ave. Y4 to 2 mile east

» Van Der Horst Corp of America 314 Penn Ave. Yato Y2 mile east

=  Van Der Hors 314 Penn Ave. Y4 to 2 mile east

=  Uni-Marts Inc 9™ at Wayne St. Y4 to Y2 mile south/southeast

Lower Elevation Address Distance/Direction

= CF Industries Inc Olean Nitrog 1446 Buffalo St. Y4 to 2 mile southwest

* Felmont Oil Corp Chemical Div 1446 Buffalo St. Y4 to > mile southwest

= Agway Olean Nitrogen Complex 1446 Buffalo St. Y4 to /2 mile southwest

The following two companies are reported as being on the RCRAInfo LQG list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Dresser Ind Inc Dresser Clark 5th St. Y4 to 2 mile southeast
= Cytec Olean Incorporated 1405 Buffalo St. Y4 to 2 mile south/southwest

CORRACTS is a list of handlers with RCRA Corrective Action Activity. The following two
companies are reported as being on the CORRACTS list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Loctite Corporation 211 Franklin St. Y4 to Y2 mile north/northeast
Lower Elevation Address Distance/Direction

= CF Industries Inc Olean Nitrog 1446 Buftalo St. Y4 to 2 mile southwest



Former Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc. Refinery Site Page 61
Historic and Current Site Conditions Report
April 2006

8.5.2 State and Local Records

A search of several state and local databases, including the Hazardous Substance Waste Disposal
Sites (HSWDS), the State Hazardous Waste Sites (SHWS), Leaking Storage Tank Incident
Reports (LTANKS), the Underground Storage Tank (UST) database, the Aboveground Storage
Tank (AST) database, the Chemical Bulk Storage (CBS UST and CBS AST) databases, and the

Brownfields Site List, produced the information detailed below.

The HSWDS list includes any known or suspected hazardous substance waste disposal sites.
Also included are properties delisted from the Registry of Inactive Hazardous Waste Disposal
Sites and non-registry sites for which USEPA Preliminary Assessment or Site Investigation

reports were prepared. The following company is reported on the HSWDS list:

Lower Elevation Address Distance/Direction

= Agway-Felmont Buffalo St. 1/8 to 1/4 mile southwest

The SHWS records are the equivalent to the federal CERCLIS list. These sites may or may not
already be listed as CERCLIS sites. Priority sites planned for cleanup using state funds (state
equivalent of Superfund) are identified along with sites where cleanup will be paid for by
potentially responsible parties. The data come from the NYDEC’s Inactive Hazardous Waste
Disposal Sites in New York. The following company is reported on the SHWS list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction

= Van Der Horst Corporation 314 Penn Ave. Y4 to Y2 mile east

LTANKS reports contain an inventory of reported leaking storage tank incidents reported from
4/1/86 through the most recent update. The list incorporates both leaking aboveground and
underground tanks. The causes of the leak incidents are tank test failures, tank failures, or tank

overfills. The following six companies are reported as being on the LTANKS list:
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Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
s (Cytec Olean Incorporated 1405 Buffalo St. Y4 to Y2 mile south/southwest
s  NYS Police/NYSOGS 722 Homer St. Y4 to %2 mile northwest
=  McKean Machinery Sales, Inc 921 N. 4™ st. Y1 to 2 mile east
s Proposed Hampton Inn Site 1128 Buffalo St. Y4 to > mile south
Lower Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Agway-Felmont Buffalo St. 1/8 to 1/4 mile southwest

Bell Atlantic Garage

1480 Buffalo St.

V4 to Y2 mile west/southwest

The UST database lists properties that currently contain registered underground storage tanks.

These tanks are regulated under Subtitle 1 of the RCRA. The data comes from the NYSDEC’s

Petroleum Bulk Storage (PBS) database. The following six sites are reported as being on the
UST list:

Equal/Higher Elevation
Dresser Rand

Conap Inc

Western Regional Crime Laborat

Van Der Horst Corp of America

Uni-Mart #05019

Lower Elevation

Van Der Horst Corp of America

Address

North 5th St.
1405 Buffalo St.
722 Homer St.
314 Penn Ave.
9™ at Wayne St.

Address
900 W Connell St.

Distance/Direction

Y4 to Y2 mile southeast

Y4 to 2 mile south/southwest
Y4 to %2 mile northwest

Yato %2 mile east

V4 to Y% mile south/southeast

Distance/Direction

1/8 to1/4 mile west

The AST database lists properties that currently contain registered aboveground storage tanks.

The data comes from the NYSDEC’s Petroleum Bulk Storage (PBS) database. The following

four sites are reported as being on the AST list:
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Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Dresser Rand North 5th St. Y4 to Y2 mile southeast

= Anderson Equipment Company 355 East Franklin St. % to 2 mile north/northeast
= Van Der Horst Corp of America 314 Penn Ave. Yato 2 mile east

Lower Elevation Address Distance/Direction

= Van Der Horst Corp of America 900 W Connell St.  1/8 to1/4 mile west

The CBS databases include facilities storing hazardous substances listed in 6 NYCRR Part 597
in aboveground tanks with capacities of 185 gallons or greater and/or underground tanks of any
size. The list includes facilities registered (and closed) since effective date of CBS regulations
(July, 15, 1988) through the date the research was requested. The following site is reported as
being on the CBS UST list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Dresser Rand Turbo Products P.O. Box 560 Y4 to ¥ mile southeast

The following two sites are reported as being on the CBS AST list:

Equal/Higher Elevation Address Distance/Direction
= Dresser Rand Turbo Products P.O. Box 560 Y4 to 2 mile southeast
= Cytec Olean Incorporated 1405 Buftfalo St. Y4 to 2 mile south/southwest

The Former Felmont Oil Site (1446 Buffalo St.) was the only property listed in the area as a
Brownstield Site.
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9.0 CONCLUSIONS

This Historic and Current Site Conditions Report presents the results of the review of
information regarding the historic operations of the Socony-Vacuum Oil refinery in north Olean,
New York and an understanding of the existing environmental conditions at the Site and in the

surrounding community.

The Site is located in the City of Olean, Cattaraugus County, New York. It is north of downtown
Olean and is situated primarily between Buffalo Street to the west and the Pennsylvania Railroad
tracks to the east (see Figure 1-2). The Dresser-Rand property is located directly to the south and
east of the Site (see Figure 1-4) and Homer Street was the approximate northwestern extent of
the refinery. This area of North Olean has a long history of industrial operations, including, but
not limited to, petroleum storage and refining, leather tanneries, heavy and light manufacturing,

chrome plating, fertilizer manufacturing, and railroad facilities (TVGA, 2003).

Based on the historical research conducted, it is understood that two separate refineries operated
at this location from approximately 1876 to 1902. At that time the two refineries merged to
become one under the direction of the Vacuum Oil Company. On July 31, 1931, the Vacuum Oil
Company merged with the Standard Oil Company of New York and in 1934, the company
changed its name to Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc (TTH, 1986¢). At its maximum extent,
the refining operations in Olean occupied approximately 115 acres, with a 1600-foot frontage
along the east side of Buffalo Street (see Figure 1-2) (TTH, 1954). This plant was Socony-
Vacuum’s principal manufacturing plant and distribution center for an extensive list of specialty

products (SVOC, 1950).

The refinery was divided into three sections known as the #1 Works, #2 Works, and #3 Works
(see Figure 1-3). Most of the administrative and research areas were located along Buffalo
Street, south of the Erie Railroad tracks (#1 Works). The #1 Works property along the tracks
contained the central power house as well as the central shops building. The #2 Works was

located just northeast of the #1 Works on the southern side of the Erie tracks and contained the
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bulk oil loading, treating, and storage departments (ORT, 1952). The area north of the Erie
tracks and just west of the Pennsylvania Railroad tracks was the #3 Works where most of the
initial refining took place after the addition of a two-stage Crude Pipe Still. Currently, the land
once occupied by this large refinery remains almost entirely undeveloped with the exception of a
few scattered buildings remaining from the Agway-Felmont fertilizer plant operations that
utilized much of the former refinery’s property from 1964 to 1984, and the Blue Bird Industrial
Park located on a portion of the former #3 Works.

The #1 and #2 Works areas were occupied by two companies identified as Agway and the
Felmont Oil Corporation (see Figure 1-4). These two worked together to produce fertilizer.
Their operations were shut down in 1984 and have been non-operational ever since. Previous
investigations into groundwater and soil contamination attributable to Agway have been

concluded and additional studies are currently being conducted on the former Felmont property.
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